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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information 
 
This Listing Statement for Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc. (“AREV”) and the documents 
incorporated into this Listing Statement contain “forward-looking statements” and 
“forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities laws (forward-
looking information and forward-looking statements being collectively hereinafter referred 
to as “forward-looking statements”). Such forward-looking statements are based on 
expectations, estimates and projections as at the date of this Listing Statement or the 
dates of the documents incorporated herein, as applicable. Any statements that involve 
discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, 
objectives, assumptions or future events or performance (often but not always using 
phrases such as “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “anticipates” or “does not 
anticipate”, “plans”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “forecasts”, “estimates”, “believes” or 
“intends”, or variations of such words and phrases, or stating that certain actions, events 
or results “may” or “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be 
achieved) are not statements of historical fact and may be forward-looking statements 
and are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to, statements and information concerning: the 
intentions, plans and future actions of AREV; statements relating to the business and 
future activities of AREV after the date of this Listing Statement; market position, ability 
to compete and future financial or operating performance of AREV after the date of this 
Listing Statement; statements based on the audited and unaudited financial statements 
of AREV included as Appendices to this Listing Statement; anticipated developments in 
operations; the future demand for AREV’s products; the results of development of 
products and the timing thereof; the timing and amount of estimated capital expenditure 
in respect of the business of AREV; operating expenditures; success of marketing 
activities; estimated budgets; currency fluctuations; requirements for additional capital; 
government regulation; limitations on insurance coverage; the timing and possible 
outcome of litigation in future periods; the timing and possible outcome of regulatory and 
permitting matters; goals; strategies; future growth; planned business activities and 
planned future acquisitions; the adequacy of financial resources; and other events or 
conditions that may occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are based on the 
beliefs of AREV’s management, as well as on assumptions, which such management 
believes to be reasonable based on information currently available at the time such 
statements were made. However, by their nature, forward-looking statements are based 
on assumptions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by 
the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to a variety of 
risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause actual events or results to differ 
from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including, without 
limitation those risks outlined in Sections 6 and 17 of this Listing Statement. The list of 
risk factors set out in this Listing Statement is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect 
any forward-looking statements of AREV. Forward-looking statements are statements 
about the future and are inherently uncertain. Actual results could differ materially from 
those projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of the matters set out or 
incorporated by reference in this Listing Statement generally and certain economic and 
business factors, some of which may be beyond the control of AREV. In addition, recent 
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unprecedented events in the world economy and global financial and credit markets have 
resulted in high market and commodity volatility and a contraction in debt and equity 
markets, which could have a particularly significant, detrimental and unpredictable effect 
on forward-looking statements. AREV does not intend, and does not assume any 
obligation, to update any forward-looking statements, other than as required by 
applicable law. For all of these reasons, AREV’s security holders should not place undue 
reliance on forward-looking statements. 

ITEM 1 GLOSSARY OF TERMS  

“ABCA”             means the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 

“Board” or 
“Board of 
Directors” 

means the board of directors of AREV; 

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange; and 

“AREV” or the 
“Company” 

means AREV Nutrition Sciences Inc.; 

“AREV Shares” means the Class A Common Shares in the capital of 
AREV; and 

“Listing 
Statement” 

means this CSE Form 2A.  

ITEM 2 CORPORATE STRUCTURE  

2.1 Corporate Name and Head Office 

The Company’s full corporate name is AREV Nutrition Sciences Inc.  

The Company’s head office is located at 440 – 890 West Pender Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V6C 1J9.  

2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

The Company was incorporated under the ABCA on November 22, 2005.   
 
The Company was formed as the result of an amalgamation effective December 31, 
2007 under the ABCA between Immunall Science Inc. (formerly Pancontinental Energy 
Inc.) and Immunall Scientific Inc. On March 31, 2011, the Company and Altius Edge 
Ltd. completed an amalgamation to form a new company to continue under the name of 
“Immunall Science Inc.”   
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On June 30, 2016 the Company was continued from Alberta to British Columbia as 
“AREV Nutrition Sciences Inc.” 

2.3 Intercorporate Relationships 

AREV does not have any subsidiaries. 

2.4 Fundamental Change 

AREV is not requalifying following a fundamental change or proposing an acquisition, 
amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement. 

2.5 Non-Corporate Issuers and Issuers Incorporated Outside of Canada 

AREV is not a non-corporate issuer, nor is it incorporated outside of Canada. 

ITEM 3 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

3.1 General Development of the Business 

AREV was incorporated under the ABCA on November 22, 2005. The Company was a 
research company engaged in the business of developing and commercializing 
technology related to the growth and extraction of active ingredients from American 
Ginseng.  During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company suspended actively 
developing its ginseng operations and began seeking complimentary products and 
processes with the intention of using its Ginseng assets.  
 
The Company is listed on the CSE under the symbol “GNS”. On January 15, 2016 the 
CSE suspended the Company’s shares from trading on the CSE as a result of cease 
trade orders issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”), 
Alberta Securities Commission (the “ASC”), and Ontario Securities Commission (the 
“OSC” and, together with the BCSC and ASC, the “Commissions”) because the 
Company failed to file its annual financial statements (the “Financial Statements”), 
management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”), and certifications of annual filings 
(the “Certifications”) for the year ended December 31, 2014. The Company filed the 
Financial Statements, MD&A, and Certifications on SEDAR effective July 31, 2015. On 
December 23, 2015, the Company amended and restated the MD&A (the “Amended 
and Restated MD&A”), and filed the Amended and Restated MD&A on SEDAR with 
accompanying certifications of re-filed annual filings. The Commissions revoked their 
respective cease trade orders against AREV on February 9, 2016, and the Company is 
now up to date with its continuous disclosure obligations under applicable securities 
laws. On April 26, 2016, the Company filed its annual financial statements and 
corresponding management’s discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 
2015.  
 
On March 29, 2016, AREV held its annual general and special meeting of shareholders 
(the “Meeting”). At the Meeting, shareholders elected Dr. Jon-Paul Powers, Dr. Nils 
Rehmann, Mr. Stephane Maher, and Mr. Bret Smith to the Board. Following the Meeting, 
Messrs. M. Frank Phillet and Craig McLennan stepped down from their roles as Chief 
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Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), respectively. Mr. Maher 
has been appointed as the Company’s new CEO, and will serve as Interim CFO until a 
successor for Mr. McLennan is appointed. These changes in leadership mark the 
beginning of a new stage in AREV’s growth and development, and Management 
anticipates the Company moving forward with new product innovations in the current 
financial year  (previous management’s focus was the development of a new product 
from American Panax Ginseng that stimulates the immune system and boosts overall 
vitality). 

 
On June 30, 2016 AREV was continued from Alberta to British Columbia and changed 
its name from Immunall Science Inc. to AREV Nutrition Sciences Inc. 
 
Effective for shareholders of record August 24, 2016 the Company consolidated its 
share capital on a 33 old for 1 new basis reducing its share capital from 33,435,911 to 
1,013,200 issued and outstanding shares.  
 
On September 16, 2016, the Company acquired state of the art and unique extraction 
equipment.  
 
On September 16, 2016, the Company has acquired the rights to exploit a poultry patent 
through an assignment agreement from Michael Withrow who in turn had obtained the 
patents from Abbatis Bioceuticals Corp. in August of 2015 for the Method and 
Composition for Preventing and Treating Avian Influenza in Poultry, for which Letters 
Patent of the United States issued on December 23, 2014, U.S. Patent No. 8,916,211 
(the “Poultry Patent”). 

Please see the section entitled “Narrative Description of the Business” for further 
information.   

3.2 Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions 

AREV has not completed a significant acquisition nor are any significant probable 
acquisitions proposed by AREV for which financial statements would be required under 
National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement 
were a prospectus.  

AREV has not completed any significant disposition during its most recently completed 
financial year or the current financial year for which pro-forma financial statements would 
be required under National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus.   

3.3 Material Trends, Commitments, Events, and Uncertainties 

Nutraceutical products are becoming an increasingly popular alternative to traditional 
pharmaceutical remedies. A lack of patent protection as well as standardization of 
efficacy has, in the past, acted as a barrier to investment in the nutraceutical industry. 
AREV believes that it can overcome these traditional impediments because it has added 
individuals to the Board with extensive experience, contacts and successes in the 
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nutraceutical industry.  
 
There are significant risks associated with AREV’s business, as described in Item 17 – 
Risk Factors. 

ITEM 4 NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

4.1 General 

(1) General Overview  

AREV conducts business operations by researching and formulating coconut oil, whey, 
and American ginseng derived products; sourcing raw materials for its products from its 
network of business contacts (the “Contacts”); and contracting with third party 
manufacturers to refine, manufacture and package these raw materials into finished 
products for commercial sales. 
 
AREV is introducing a natural coconut flavored health product to the North American 
consumers.  Delivered in its unique emulsified format, the coconut-derived MCT 
(medium chain triglycerides) oil combined with Whey Protein serves as a convenient 
and nutritious solution for improved overall well-being. The North American market for 
coconut oil products currently, estimated at over $200 million, is growing exponentially 
each year.  AREV intends to become a leader in the coconut-derived MCT oil based 
nutraceutical products. 
 
AREV has recently acquired rights to a full line of proprietary brand called COCO-
MULSION (Collectively, the “COCO-MULSION Products”). The products include four 
different products with specific health applications, COCO-MULSION ORIGINAL, 
COCO-MULSION BRAIN, COCO-MULSION PERFORMANCE and COCO-MULSION 
RELAX. The products have been registered with Health Canada. 
 
AREV is in discussion to close agreements with  two major distributors in Quebec 
covering Natural Health Food Stores, Sport Nutrition Stores and Gyms/ Fitness studios. 
AREV is expected to be launched in early 2017 with its first two products (ORIGINAL 
and BRAIN). Discussions with national distributors have started and should be finalized 
spring 2017. 
 
AREV currently holds 2000 pounds of milled American ginseng in storage (the “Ginseng 
Inventory”) at True Form. The Company can either sell the Ginseng Inventory in its 
current state or use the Ginseng Inventory as an ingredient in newly developed products. 
 
AREV owns unique extraction technology that has the capability to flash freeze active 
ingredients, oils and oleoresins for use as ingredients in food, nutraceuticals and other 
consumer products. This technology will enable AREV to produce its own coconut oil 
and to distribute other nutraceutical oils and aromas, thereby expanding product line 
potential and co-packing opportunities. 
 
The physical equipment and machinery that possesses the flash freeze capabilities 
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described above (the “FFE Equipment”) was acquired by AREV from Michael Withrow 
on September 16, 2016. The FFE Equipment was moved to and installed in a warehouse 
near AREV’s Unit #2 – 9049 Shaughnessy Street warehouse/office location in October 
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Through a Consulting Agreement dated September 16, 2016 with Nils Rehmann (the 
“Rehmann Contract”) the Company has obtained unique knowledge, know-how, 
techniques and methods used to assemble and operate the FFE Equipment. This know-
how can be used in concert with the FFE Equipment to extract oils, oleoresins and 
secondary products from various kinds/types of biomasses. 
 

(a) Business Objectives (12 Months)  

AREV’s primary goal in the 12 months following the date of this Listing Statement is to 
fund the business objectives listed below in point form. Selling the Ginseng Inventory 
will be a non-dilutive source of cash for the Company that can assist in achieving these 
objectives.  

AREV will work towards the following objectives: 

(i) close on licensing agreements with a nutraceutical marketing company 
to sell the Ginseng Inventory; 

(ii) arrange for marketing and distribution of the COCO-MULSION Products; 

(iii) formulate patentable compositions that add value to the Poultry Patent; 
and 

(iv) Identify alternative extraction technologies and uses of the FFE 
Equipment 

(v) Formulate patentable compositions that add value to the Poultry Patent 
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(b) Milestones 

In order to achieve the business objectives for the forthcoming 12-month period, 
AREV will work towards the following milestones: 

Objective Milestone Estimated 
time frame  

Expected Cost 

(i) Reinstatement 
approved by CSE 

• Close private placement. 

• File re-listing application. 

 

 

December 
2016 

 

$15,000 

 

(ii) Manufacturing 
(Extraction) for 
company own 
supply and 
commercialisation 
(various oils)  

• Having facility GMP certified and 
issuance of site License from Health 
Canada 

Three to four 
months $10,000 

(iii) Arrange 
national 
distribution for the 
COCO-MULSION 
Products 

• Negotiate agreements with Quebec 
distributors (natural health 
distributors) 

• Negotiate agreements with 
Canadian distributors (natural health 
distributors). Website development 
and online sells 

 

Three to four 
months 

 

 

$10,000 

 

 

(iv) Identify 
alternative 
extraction 
technologies and 
ingredients for 
uses of the 
formulas and FFE 
Equipment 

 

• File NPNs with Health Canada and 
prepare provisional patents 

Research possible uses of the FFE 
Equipment beyond initial ginseng 
and coconut oil extraction 

Three to 
twelve months 

 

 

 

$10,000 
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(c) Available Capital and Use of Funds 

AREV had working capital deficit of $451,799 as of September 30, 2016. By share for 
debt conversion agreements, private placement proceeds of $260,000 and deferral of 
payables to management the working capital deficit is eliminated and has subsequently 
become positive $93,201. 

On July 8, 2015, AREV entered into a Credit Facility Agreement with Michael Withrow, 
which was subsequently amended on December 24, 2015 (as amended, the “Credit 
Facility”). Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Facility, Mr. Withrow agreed to advance 
funds to AREV for working capital purposes. 

On September 16, 2016 Mr. Withrow agreed to convert the principal and interest 
outstanding under the Credit Facility into a $115,000 convertible debenture convertible 
into units. Each unit consists of one share and one share purchase warrant convertible 
@ $.10 per share for an exercise term of two years from the date of issuance (the 
“Units”). 

On November 15, 2016, the Company closed a $260,000 private placement for 5,200,000 
common shares at a deemed price of $0.05 per unit. Each unit consists of one share and 
one share purchase warrant convertible @ $.10 per share for an exercise term of 
eighteen months ended May 16, 2018.  

The Company has cash on hand of $265,955  

The table below sets out the principal purposes and approximate amounts for which 
AREV will use the funds available under the private placement and Credit Facility:  

Description of Expenditure Funds to be Expended 
Costs of listing on the CSE $ 5,000 
Licensing and Product Development $ 10,000 
Audit, legal & accounting $ 15,000 
Consulting and management fees $ 120,000 
Rent $      34,500 
Unallocated working capital $       81,455 
Total 12 Month Expenditure (without sales revenues) $    265,955 

The Company intends to finance accounts payables from operations with internal cash 
flow and may be dependent on raising further outside capital to embark on any additional 
product research and development or capital expansion. 

Principal Products 

(d) Methods of Distribution and Principal Markets 

As discussed above, AREV is negotiating marketing and distribution agreements with 
potential agents to assist with the marketing and distribution of the COCO-MULSION 
Products. If negotiations proceed as planned the initial market for the COCO-
MULSION Products will be in Canada. 
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(e) Revenue from Products 

AREV does not generate any revenue at this time.   

(f) Stage of Development 

AREV is proceeding with development and has completed the flavour and viscosity 
profiles of the COCO-MULSION Products. Management is currently working with a 
packaging company to procure a unique “Snap Pak” package design for the COCO-
MULSION Products in preparation for commercial production. 

The Company recently moved the FFE Equipment into a warehouse near the Issuer’s 
Unit #2 – 9049 Shaughnessy Street warehouse/office location in the first two weeks 
of October. 

(2) Production and Sales  

(a) Production 

AREV will produce the COCO-MULSION Products using the FFE Equipment to 
process raw materials sourced from its network of Contacts into finished products. 
AREV will contract with third parties to package, distribute and market the finished 
products. 

(b) Material Leases or Mortgages 

AREV signed a lease on a warehouse office space at Unit #2 – 9049 Shaughnessy 
Street in Vancouver with Rocky Mountain Property Management (the “Lease”). The 
Lease began on September 1, 2015, and the term of the Lease ends on August 31, 
2018. The lease is $2,875 per month. 

(c) Specialized Skills and Knowledge 

The success of AREV’s planned operations will rely predominantly on the following 
specialized skills and knowledge: 

• scientific research and development; 
• sourcing of raw materials; 
• cultivating relationships with suitable third party marketers and distributors; 
• knowledge and awareness of the nutraceutical industry; 
• ability to compete on price and quality of ingredients; and 
• strengthening relationships with marketing partners 

All of the Board members have knowledge and awareness of the nutraceutical 
industry, and can assist the Company in finding a competitive price point for its 
products and sourcing high quality ingredients. Please refer to Section 13.1 for further 
details regarding the skills and experience of AREV’s directors and officers.   
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(d) Sourcing and Supply of Inputs 

AREV’s proposed business will require consistent access to raw, unrefined materials. 
As discussed above, AREV can access the raw materials for the COCO-MULSION 
products from its established network of business Contacts. 

(e) Intangible and Intellectual Property 

The Company acquired the rights to exploit the Poultry Patent through an assignment 
agreement from Michael Withrow dated September 16, 2016. Michael Withrow had 
in turn obtained the patents from Abbatis Bioceuticals Corp. in August of 2015 for the 
Method and Composition for Preventing and Treating Avian Influenza in Poultry, for 
which Letters Patent of the United States issued on December 23, 2014, U.S. Patent 
No. 8,916,211. 

On September 16, 2016, the Company acquired rights to the COCO-MULSION 
products which have been assigned Natural Product Numbers (NPNs) by Health 
Canada. 

The Company has evidence of first and prior use of the brand name “Ginse”, although 
no trademark has been filed. The Company intends to file trademarks for future 
products and brands as they are developed.  

(f) Seasonality 

It is assumed, based on the experience of the management of AREV, that there will 
be no material seasonality.  

(g) Material Renegotiations (12 months) 

AREV currently has Consulting Agreements with Stephane Maher and Nils Rehmann 
which, if renegotiated or terminated, would materially affect AREV’s operations. 

(h) Environmental Protection Requirements 

The introduction of environmental protection requirements would not affect AREV’s 
capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position in the current financial year.  

(i) Employees 

AREV has no employees.   

(j) Foreign Operations 

AREV currently has no foreign operations.  

(k) Substantial Contracts 
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AREV currently has Consulting Agreements with Stephane Maher and Nils Rehmann 
upon which its business is substantially dependent.  

(l) Material Renegotiations (Current Year) 

AREV currently has Consulting Agreements with Stephane Maher and Nils Rehmann 
that could be subject to cancellation or renegotiation.   

(3) Competitive Condition  

The main competition for the COCO-MULSION Products would be a variety of 
nutraceutical health supplements available on the Canadian health market. 70% of 
Canadians use Natural Health Products (NHPs) on a regular basis, while 45% of 
Canadians use NHPs on a daily basis. The Canadian natural health industry is now 
valued at over $3 billion. While the industry is highly competitive the demand for 
health and certified organic food is growing in all regions of Canada and is greatest 
in British Columbia. As the Canadian population ages the demand for preventative 
health care products, including NHPs, increases. The Company believes that these 
growth trends and the unique combination of coconut oil and whey protein in the 
COCO-MULSION Products present an opportunity to enter the market and compete 
effectively. 
 

(4) Lending Policies 

AREV does not engage in lending.   

(5) Bankruptcy and Receivership Proceedings 

AREV is not, and has not been, subject to bankruptcy, receivership, or similar 
proceedings within the past three years.  

(6) Material Restructuring Transactions 

AREV has not engaged in any material restructuring transactions within the three 
most recently completed financial years or the current financial year other than on 
August 24, 2016 the Company consolidated its share capital on a 33 old for 1 new 
basis reducing its share capital from 33,435,911 to 1,013,200 issued and outstanding 
shares.  

(7) Social or Environmental Policies Fundamental to Operations 

AREV has no social or environmental policies that are fundamental to its operations.  
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ITEM 5 SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

5.1 Annual Information  

AREV’s audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 
2013, are attached hereto as Appendix “D” and Appendix “E”, and are available on 
SEDAR. The following financial data summarizes selected financial data for AREV 
prepared in accordance with IFRS for the three years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 
and 2013. The information presented below is derived from AREV’s annual financial 
statements, which were audited by AREV’s independent auditor. The information set forth 
below should be read in conjunction with AREV’s annual financial statements and related 
notes thereto.  

 For the Year Ended December 31, 
 2015 2014 2013 
Total Revenue - - - 
Expenses 84,156 30,156 34,015 
Loss on settlement of debt - - - 
Net loss and total loss from continuing 
operations 84,156 30,156 34,015 
Basic and diluted loss per share .00 .00 .00 
Working capital (167,181) (80,181) (5,526) 
Total Assets 17,339 3,503 52,805 
Total long term liabilities - - - 
Cash dividends per share - - - 

5.2 Quarterly Information 

The following quarterly data is compiled from AREV’s audited annual financial statements 
ending December 31, 2015, and 2014, as well as from AREV’s unaudited quarterly 
financial statements to September 30, 2016. 

 

 

Quarter ended  

Income (loss) 
before other 
income and 

expenses 

Income (loss) and 
comprehensive 

income (loss) 

Basic and diluted 
earnings (loss) per 

common share 
    $ $ $ 

Q3/16 September 30, 2016 (63,836) (63,836) (0.06) 
Q2/16 June 30, 2016 (42,563) (42,563) (0.04) 
Q1/16 March 31, 2016 (37,196) (37,196) (0.04) 
Q4/15 December 31, 2015 (53,719) (53,719) (0.05) 
Q3/15 September 30, 2015 (18,518) (18,518) (0.02) 
Q2/15 June 30, 2015 (10,374) (10,374) (0.01) 
Q1/15 March 31, 2015 (1,545) (1,545) (0.00) 
Q4/14 December 31, 2014 (23,584) (68,651) (0.07) 
Q3/14 September 30, 2014  (2,107) (2,107) (0.00) 
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5.3 Dividends 

There are no restrictions that could prevent AREV from paying dividends.  

AREV has not paid dividends in the past and does not anticipate paying dividends in the 
near future. AREV is in early stages of development, and there is no plan and no policy 
to declare and issue dividends. 

The payment of dividends in the future will depend on AREV’s earnings and financial 
condition, as well as other factors that the Board of Directors may consider appropriate 
from time to time. 

5.4 Foreign GAAP 

Beginning in the first quarter of 2011, AREV’s financial statements have been prepared 
according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

ITEM 6 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

6.1 Annual MD&A 

Appendix “A” contains AREV’s Annual MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2015 (as 
amended and restated on December 23, 2015).  

Appendix “B” contains AREV’s Interim MD&A for the period ending three months and 
nine months to September 30, 2016. 

ITEM 7 MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The AREV Shares are listed for trading on the CSE.  

ITEM 8 CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

AREV recently completed a share consolidation on the basis of thirty-three (33) pre-
consolidation AREV shares to one (1) post-consolidation AREV share, reducing its share 
capital from 33,435,911 to 1,013,200 issued and outstanding shares (the 
“Consolidation”). The Consolidation’s record date was September 2, 2016. 

Subsequently AREV closed a private placement for 5,200,000 units in addition to an 
issuance of 5,700,000 common shares for consulting agreements, assets and signing 
bonuses.  

The total share capitalization as of the date of this document is 11,913,200 common 
shares. 

ITEM 9 OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

As of the date of this Listing Statement there are no outstanding options to purchase 
securities of AREV.  



 

 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT   
December 14, 2016 
Page | 15 

 

AREV has established a stock option plan (the “AREV Option Plan”), pursuant to 
which the Board of Directors may grant options to purchase AREV Shares to the 
officers, directors and employees of AREV or affiliated corporations and to consultants 
retained by AREV. The purpose of the AREV Option Plan is to attract, retain and 
motivate directors, officers, employees and other service providers by providing them 
with the opportunity, through options, to acquire an interest in AREV and benefit from its 
growth. Under the AREV Option Plan, the maximum number of AREV Shares reserved 
for issuance, including options currently outstanding is equal to 10% of the AREV 
Shares outstanding from time to time. The 10% maximum is an “evergreen” provision, 
such that, following the exercise, termination, cancellation or expiration of any options 
under the AREV Option Plan, a number of AREV Shares equivalent to the number of 
options so exercised, terminated, cancelled or expired would automatically become 
reserved and available for issuance in respect of future option grants. 

The number of AREV Shares which may be the subject of options on a yearly basis to 
any one person cannot exceed 5% of the number of issued and outstanding AREV 
Shares at the time of the grant. Options may be granted to any employee, officer, 
director or consultant of AREV or an affiliate of AREV exercisable at a price which is not 
less than the market price of the AREV Shares on the date of grant. The directors 
of AREV may, by resolution, determine the time during which any option may be 
exercised (the “Exercise Period”), provided that: the Exercise Period does not 
contravene any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the AREV Shares may be 
listed. All options will terminate on the earliest to occur of (a) the expiry of their term; (b) 
the date of termination of an optionee’s employment, office or position as director, if 
terminated for just cause; (c) 90 days (or such other period of time as permitted by the 
Exchange) following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a director or 
officer, if terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s disability or death; (d) 30 
days following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a consultant engaged 
in investor relations activities, if terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s 
disability, death or just cause; and (e) the date of any sale, transfer or assignment of the 
option. 

Options granted under the AREV Option Plan are non-assignable and are subject to 
early termination in the event of the death of a participant or in the event a participant 
ceases to be an officer, director, employee, or consultant of AREV, or a subsidiary, as 
the case may be. Subject to the foregoing restrictions, and certain other restrictions set 
forth in the AREV Option Plan, the Board of Directors is authorized to provide for the 
granting of options and the exercise and method of exercise of options granted under 
the AREV Option Plan. 

ITEM 10 DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1 General 

The authorized capital of AREV consists of an unlimited number of AREV Shares – being 
Class A common shares – and an unlimited number of Class B preferred shares (the 
“Preferred Shares”).  
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(1) Dividend Rights 

(a) AREV Shares 

Subject to the preferences accorded to holders of Preferred Shares and any other 
class of shares of the Company ranking senior to the AREV Shares with respect to 
the payment of dividends, holders of AREV Shares shall be entitled to receive, if, 
as and when declared by Board, such dividends as may be declared thereon by 
the Board from time to time. Further, subject to the rights accorded to the holders of 
any other class of shares of the Company entitled to receive dividends in priority 
or concurrent with the holders of the AREV Shares, the Board may in its sole discretion 
declare dividends on the AREV Shares to the exclusion of any other class of the 
Company. 
 

(b) Preferred Shares 

Subject to the preferences accorded to holders of any other shares of the Company 
ranking senior to the Preferred Shares from time to time with respect to the payment of 
dividends, the holders of each series of Preferred Shares shall be entitled, in priority to 
holders of AREV Shares and any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the 
Preferred Shares with respect to the payment of dividends, to be paid rateably with 
holders of each other series of Preferred Shares the amount of accumulated 
dividends, if any, specified as being payable preferentially to the holders of such series. 
 

(2) Voting Rights 

(a) AREV Shares 

Holders of AREV Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at any 
meeting of the shareholders of the Company, except meetings of holders of another 
class of shares. Each AREV Share shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote at all such 
meetings. 
 

(b) Preferred Shares 

The Preferred Shares do not have voting rights.  

(3) Rights Upon Dissolution or Winding Up 

(a) AREV Shares 

In the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of 
the Company, or any other distribution of its assets among its shareholders for the 
purpose of winding-up its affairs (any of the foregoing, a “Distribution”), holders of 
AREV Shares, subject to the preferences accorded to holders of Preferred Shares 
and any other class of shares of the Company ranking senior to or concurrent with the 
AREV Shares with respect to payment in the event of a Distribution, shall be entitled to 
share equally, share for share, in the remaining property of the Company without 
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preference or distinction. 
 

(b) Preferred Shares 

In the event of a Distribution, holders of each series of Preferred Shares shall be 
entitled, in priority to holders of AREV Shares and any other shares of the Company 
ranking junior to the Preferred Shares with respect to payment on a Distribution, to be 
paid rateably with holders of each other series of Preferred Shares the amount, if 
any, specified as being payable preferentially to the holders of such series on a 
Distribution. 
 

(4) Pre-Emptive Rights 

Neither the AREV Shares nor the Preferred Shares have pre-emptive rights.  

(5) Conversion or Exchange Rights 

Neither the AREV Shares nor the Preferred Shares have conversion or exchange rights. 

(6) Redemption, Retraction, Purchase for Cancellation, or Surrender Provisions 

Neither the AREV Shares nor the Preferred Shares have redemption, retraction, 
purchase for cancellation, or surrender provisions. 

(7) Sinking or Purchase Fund Provisions 

Neither the AREV Shares nor the Preferred Shares have sinking or purchase fund 
provisions.  

(8) Provisions Permitting or Restricting the Issuance of Additional Securities and 
any other Material Restrictions 

(a) AREV Shares 

The AREV Shares do not have provisions restricting the issuance of additional 
securities, or any other material restrictions.  

(b) Preferred Shares 

Subject to the filing of Articles of Amendment in accordance with the ABCA, the 
Board may at any time and from time to time issue the Preferred Shares in one or more 
series, each series to consist of such number of shares as may, before the issuance 
thereof, be determined by the Board. 
 
Subject to the filing of Articles of Amendment in accordance with the ABCA, the 
Board may from time to time fix, -before issuance, the designation, rights, privileges, 
restrictions and conditions attaching to each series of Preferred Shares including, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amount, if any, specified as being 
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payable preferentially to such series in the event of a Distribution; the extent, if any, 
of further participation in a Distribution; voting rights, if any; and dividend rights 
(including whether such dividends be preferential, or cumulative or non-cumulative), if 
any. 
 

(9) Provisions Requiring a Securityholder to Contribute Additional Capital 

Neither the AREV Shares nor the Preferred Shares have provisions that require 
securityholders to contribute additional capital.  

10.2 Debt Securities 

AREV has two convertible debentures currently issued and outstanding. 

One convertible debenture with a principal value of $300,000 was issued to Michael 
Withrow as consideration for the purchase of the FFE Plant Equipment (the “FFE Plant 
Purchase Debenture”). Convertible into 6,000,000 units, each unit consisting of one 
share and one share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.05 per share for an exercise 
term of two years after the date of issuance. One convertible debenture with a principal 
value of $115,000 was issued to Michael Withrow in full settlement of the Credit Facility 
(the “Credit Facility Debenture”). Convertible into 2,300,000 units, each unit consisting 
of one share and one share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.05 per share for an 
exercise term of two years after the date of issuance.  

10.4 Other Securities 

AREV has 5,200,000 common share warrants issued on November 15, 2016 and 
outstanding with an exercise price of $0.10 and a term of ending May 16, 2018. The 
common share warrants are subject to an accelerator clause in the event the majority of 
trading volume in the shares of the Company over 10 consecutive trading days exceeds 
$.15, then notice may be given to warrant holders to exercise within 30 days failing which 
the warrants will expire. 

10.5 Modification of Terms 

The articles of AREV (the “Articles”) are silent on the modification, amendment, or 
variation of any rights attached to the AREV Shares.  

The rights of holders of AREV Shares may not be modified otherwise than in accordance 
with the provisions of the BCBCA. 

10.6 Other Attributes 

As discussed above in Section 10.1, the holders of Preferred Shares rank ahead of the 
holders of AREV Shares with respect to the issuance of dividends and rights upon the 
dissolution or winding up of the Company. The rights attached to the AREV Shares are 
not otherwise materially limited or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, 
and no other class of securities rank ahead of or equally with the AREV Shares.  
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The AREV Shares cannot be partially redeemed or repurchased.  
 

10.7 Prior Sales 

0.7(a)  Prior Sales of Issuer Shares  

As at the date of this Listing Statement, there are 1,013,200 Issuer Shares issued and 
outstanding and the Issuer Shares issued within 12 months of the date of this Listing 
Statement are as follows:  

 

Price Per

Security
2016-09-02 Common Shares 1,013,200 N/A N/A Consolidation

Sep-16 Common Shares 2,000,000 $0.05 $100,000.00 
Equipment 
Purchase

Sep-16 Common Shares 1,500,000 $0.05 $75,000.00 Patent Purchase

Sep-16 Common Shares 2,000,000 $0.05 $100,000.00 
Product rights 
and consulting 

contract

Sep-16 Common Shares 200,000 $0.05 $10,000.00 
Director and 

Executive 
Compensation

Sep-16 Common Shares 5,200,000 $0.05 $260,000.00 Private Placement
TOTAL 11,913,200

Date of Issuance Type of Security 
Issued

Number of 
Securities Issued

Value Received Type of 
Transaction
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10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

The AREV Shares were listed and posted for trading on the CSE under the symbol 
“GNS”., and will trade on reinstatement under the symbol “ARV.” Trading of the AREV 
Shares was halted when the BCSC, ASC and OSC issued cease trade orders against 
AREV dated May 8, May 6, and May 25, 2015, respectively (collectively, the “CTOs”), 
and remains halted as of the date of this Listing Statement.  The Commissions revoked 
their respective cease trade orders against AREV on February 9, 2016. 

On January 15, 2016 the CSE suspended the AREV Shares from trading as a result of 
the CTOs (the “Suspension”). The Suspension remains in effect pending acceptance for 
filing of this form. 

The following table sets out the price ranges and trading volume of AREV Shares since 
the beginning of AREV’s last completed quarter: 

Month High ($) Low ($) Trading 
Volume(1) 

April 2016 0.005 0.005 0 
March 2016 0.005 0.005 0 
February 2016 0.005 0.005 0 
January 2016 0.005 0.005 0 

(1) Due to the Suspension, the AREV Shares have not been traded during the Company’s last 
completed quarter.  

As disclosed above, trading of the AREV Shares was halted when the BCSC, ASC, and 
OSC issued the CTOs against the Company on May 8, May 6, and May 25, 2015, 
respectively. There have been no trades in the AREV Shares since the CTOs were 
issued.  

ITEM 11 ESCROWED SECURITIES 

The table immediately below sets out the number of Issuer Shares held by principals and 
certain other shareholders of the Issuer that will be held in escrow upon the Completion 
of the Listing.  

Designation of Class 
Held in Escrow(1) 

Number of Securities 
Held in Escrow 

Percentage 
of Class 

Common Shares 5,700,000(1) 47.84% 

Notes: 
(1)  Recipients of shares holding more than 1% of the issued have consented to their shares being escrowed. Assuming the Issuer 

is classified as an emerging issuer pursuant to NP 46-201, the securities listed in the table below will, in accordance with NP 
46-201, be subject to the Form 46-201 Escrow Agreement and will be released from escrow in stages over a 36 month period 
from the Completion of the Listing with 10% released immediately upon the Completion of the Listing and 15% of such escrowed 
shares released on the 6, 12, 18, 24, 30 and 36 month anniversaries of the Completion of the Listing. 
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ITEM 12 PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of AREV, as at the date of this Listing 
Statement, there are no persons who beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise 
control or direction over, AREV Shares entitled to more than 10% of the votes, except as 
indicated below:  

Shareholder and 
Municipality of Residence 

Number of Common Shares  Percentage of Common 
Shares Owned of Record 

Michael Withrow, Sunrise Tan 
Hung Ward District Q7, Vietnam 

3,500,000 Common Shares(1) 29.4%(2) 

Stephane Maher, Richmond, BC 2,000,000 Common Shares 16.8% 
Mr. Withrow received 2,000,000 shares as partial payment covering $100,000 of the price of the FFE 
Equipment at $0.05 per share, and holds a convertible debenture of $300,000 representing the balance 
of the purchase price of FFE Equipment as well as a debenture of $115,000 representing amounts 
advanced to the Company all of which is convertible into units at $0.05 per unit, each unit consisting of 
one share and one share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.05 per share for two years. Fully diluted 
would result in the issuance of units containing 8,300,000 shares and warrants to acquire an additional 
8,300,000 shares. If all the convertible notes were converted and all the warrants were exercised Mr. 
Withrow would acquire an additional 16,600,000 shares. 

ITEM 13 DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

13.1 Names, Occupations, Experience and Ownership 

The below table includes the names, municipalities of residence, position, principal 
occupations, and the number of voting securities that each of AREV’s directors and 
officers beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control over, as of the date 
hereof: 

Name of Nominee, Current 
Position(s), and 
Municipality of Residence 

Occupation, Business or 
Employment for the Past Five 
Years 

Period as 
a Director 
of AREV 

Common Shares of 
AREV Beneficially 
Owned or 
Controlled 

Percentage of 
Issued Common 
Shares of AREV 

Stephane Maher 
Director, CEO, Interim CFO 
Richmond, British Columbia 

President, Yellow Brick Sales & 
Marketing Group Inc. (since 
January 2002) 

Since 
March 
2016 

2,000,000 16.78% 

Michael Withrow 
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, Promoter, Director 
Ho Chi Minh, Vietnam 

CEO of Arcturus Growthstar 
Technologies Inc. from May 
2015 to October 2015; CEO of 
Abbattis Bioceuticals Corp. from 
February 2011 to February 
2015 

Since 
November 

2016 
3,500,000 29.37% 

Nils Rehmann 
Director 
Fredericton, New Brunswick  

Senior Consultant and Director, 
NiRem Consulting (since 
October 2013) 
Method Development Chemist, 
Research and Productivity 
Council, New Brunswick 
(October 2008 to October 2013) 

Since 
March 
2016 

200,000 1.68% 

D. Scott McDermid 
Director 
Richmond, British Columbia 

Licensed commercial realtor, 
property manager and builder 

Since 
November 

2016 
0 N/A 
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13.2 Periods of Service as Director 

The period during which each director has served as director is disclosed above.  The 
term of office for all of the directors continues until the end of the next annual general 
meeting of AREV, or until such directors resign or are replaced.   

13.3 Security Holdings 

As a group, the directors and executive officers own directly, or indirectly, or exercise 
control or direction over an aggregate of 5,700,000 (47.8%) AREV Shares at the date of 
this Listing Statement. 

Further information about security holdings can be found in the table at 13.1. 

13.4 Committees of the Board of Directors 

AREV has one board committee, the Audit Committee, which currently consists of 
Stephane Maher, Nils Rehmann and Scott McDermid.   

13.5 Principal Occupation 

The principal occupation of each director of AREV is disclosed in the table at 13.1. 

13.6 Corporate Cease Trade Orders of Bankruptcies 

To the knowledge of AREV, no director or officer or shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of AREV to affect materially the control of AREV, is, or within 10 
years before the date of this Listing Statement has been, a director or officer of any other 
Issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity:  

(i) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied 
that company access to any exemption under securities legislation for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days;  

(ii) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 
ceased to be a director or executive officer, in that company being the 
subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days;  

(iii) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager, or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or  

(iv) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement 
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or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver-manager, or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

13.7 Penalties or Sanctions 

To the knowledge of AREV, no director or officer of the Company, or a shareholder 
holding sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 
Company, has:  

(i) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; or  

(ii) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 
regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

13.8 Not Applicable 

13.9 Bankruptcy 

To the knowledge of AREV, no director or officer of the Company, or a shareholder 
holding sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 
Company, or a personal holding company of any such persons has, within 10 years 
before the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer.  

 
13.10 Conflicts of Interest 

To the knowledge of AREV, there are no existing material conflicts of interest between 
AREV and any of the directors or officers of the Company.  

A material conflict of interest could arise between AREV and Mr. Smith if the Company 
elects to engage True Form to refine, manufacture and package the Panax Product, or 
other product candidates in the future, for commercial sales, as Mr. Smith is the President 
of True Form. To the knowledge of AREV, there are no other potential material conflicts 
of interest between AREV and any of the other directors or officers of the Company.  

13.11 Management 

Stephane Maher 

Stephane Maher, age 49, became director, CEO and Interim CFO of AREV on March 
29, 2016. He holds a B.A. in Communication with a minor in Marketing from Laval 
University. 



 

 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT   
December 14, 2016 
Page | 24 

 

Mr. Maher works part-time for AREV. He devotes as much time as is necessary to fulfill 
his obligations to the Company. Mr. Maher is an independent contractor of the Company.  

Mr. Maher founded Yellow Brick Sales and Marketing Group Inc. (“Yellow Brick”) in 
2002, and has served as President of Yellow Brick since that time. Yellow Brick is a 
consulting company that helps manufacturers, importers and retailers of natural health 
products to achieve regulatory compliance in Canada. Yellow Brick is not an affiliate of 
AREV. To the knowledge of AREV, Yellow Brick is still carrying on business as of the 
date of this Listing Statement.  

Through his work at Yellow Brick, Mr. Maher has gained extensive experience in the 
nutraceutical industry – particularly with respect to the regulatory regime that applies to 
the production, importation, manufacture, distribution and sale of natural health products 
in Canada. As of the date of this Listing Statement, Mr. Maher has entered into a 
consulting and management contract which does not contain a non-competition or non-
disclosure agreement with AREV.  

Nils Rehmann 

Nils Rehmann, age 36, became a director of AREV on March 29, 2016. He holds a Ph.D. 
in Pharmacology and Toxicology from the University College Dublin, Ireland, and a 
Chem.-Eng. Degree from the University of Applied Sciences Fresnius, Germany.  

Dr. Rehmann works part-time for AREV. He devotes as much time as is necessary to 
fulfill his obligations to the Company. Dr. Rehmann is an independent contractor of the 
Company.  

Since 2013, Dr. Rehmann has owned and operated Nirem Consulting Inc. (“NiRem”), a 
consulting company that advises clients in the biotechnology, research and 
development, and life sciences sectors on methods to improve laboratory performance, 
business development and regulatory compliance, and assisting firms in achieving 
accreditation under International Standards Organization (ISO) and Good 
Manufacturing Practices (GMP). Prior to founding NiRem, from 2008 to 2013, Dr. 
Rehmann worked as a method development chemist for the Research and Productivity 
Council of New Brunswick (“RPCNB”). In this role, he was involved in developing 
nutritional labelling analysis and food safety regulatory analysis methods.   

In his roles at NiRem and RPCNB, Dr. Rehmann has gained extensive experience in 
the nutraceutical industry – particularly with respect to the regulatory regime that applies 
to the nutritional labelling and safety accreditation of natural health products in Canada. 
Dr. Rehmann’s educational background and work experience has also provided him with 
insight into methods to improve research strategies and laboratory performance involved 
in the development of nutraceutical products. As of the date of this Listing Statement, 
Mr. Maher has entered into a consulting and management contract which does not 
contain a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with AREV. 
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ITEM 14 ISSUED CAPITAL 

14.1 Issued Capital Tables 

Issued Capital 
 
   Number of 

Securities (fully-
diluted)(1) 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of issued 
(fully diluted) 

Public Float     
Total Outstanding (A) 11,913,200 33,713,200 100.00% 100.00% 
 
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of AREV or 
Related Person of AREV, 
or by persons or companies 
who beneficially own or 
control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in AREV (or 
who would beneficially own 
or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in AREV 
upon exercise or 
conversion of other 
securities (B) 

 
 
 
 
5,700,000 22,300,000 47.85% 66.15% 

 
Total Public Float (A – B) 

6,213,200 
 

11,413,200 
 

52.15% 
 

33.85% 
 

      
Freely Tradable Float     

 
Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other 
arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement 
and securities held by 
control block holders (C) 10,900,000 10,900,000 91.50% 32.31% 
 
Total Tradable Float (A-C) 1,013,200 14,513,200 8.50% 43.04% 

Assumes 4 month hold on private placement expired in fully diluted case. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered)(1) 

 
Size of Holdings Number of 

Holders 
Total Number of 
Securities(1) 

1-99 securities 3                  71  
100-499 securities 0      0 
500-999 securities 3              2,120  
1,000-1,999 securities 49            50,393 
2,000 – 2,999 securities 2              4,545  
3,000 – 3,999 securities 2              6,139  
4,000 – 4,999 securities 0                     0 
5,000 or more securities 35       6,149,932 
 
 

 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial)(1) 

 
Size of Holdings Number of 

Holders 
Total Number of 
Securities 

1-99 securities 336                  6,940  
100-499 securities 54                14,634  
500-999 securities 16                12,362  
1,000-1,999 securities 56                61,368  
2,000 – 2,999 securities 9                25,352  
3,000 – 3,999 securities 15                51,364  
4,000 – 4,999 securities 5                20,679  
5,000 or more securities 53            6,020,501  
 
 

 

Non-Public Securityholders(1) 

 
Size of Holdings Number of 

Holders 
Total Number of 
Securities 

1-99 securities 0 0 
100-499 securities 0 0 
500-999 securities 0 0 
1,000-1,999 securities 0 0 
2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0 
3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0 
4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0 
5,000 or more securities 3 5,700,000 
 
 

 

14.2 Convertible Securities 

AREV has two convertible debentures currently issued and outstanding. 
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One convertible debenture with a principal value of $300,000 was issued to Michael 
Withrow as consideration for the purchase of the FFE Plant Equipment (the “FFE Plant 
Purchase Debenture”). Convertible into 6,000,000 units, each unit consisting of one 
share and one share purchase warrant convertible at $0.05 per share for an exercise 
term of two years from the date of issuance.  

One convertible debenture with a principal value of $115,000 was issued to Michael 
Withrow in full settlement of the Credit Facility (the “Credit Facility Debenture”). 
Convertible into 2,300,000 units, each unit consisting of one share and one share 
purchase warrant convertible at $0.05 per share for an exercise term of two years from 
the date of issuance.  

14.3 Listed Securities Reserved for Issuance not included in Section 14.2 

There are no listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in 14.2. 

ITEM 15 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Appendix “C” contains AREV’s Form 51-102F6V, as distributed in the Information 
Circular dated March 29, 2016.   

AREV entered into a consulting contract with Mr. Maher on September 16, 2016 (the 
“Maher Contract”). Pursuant to the Maher Contract, Mr. Maher will receive 
compensation for his work as CEO, Interim CFO, and Director of the Company in the 
form of a monthly fee of $8,000, payable in cash. Updated information regarding Mr. 
Maher’s compensation will be provided in AREV’s information circular for its annual 
meeting of shareholders in 2017 (the “2017 MIC”).  

(1) 200,000 AREV Shares have been issued to Dr. Rehmann as a signing bonus for joining 
the Board and providing his services as per the Rehmann Contract. 500,000 AREV 
Shares have been granted to Mr. Maher as a signing bonus for acting as CEO and 
joining the Board pursuant to the Maher Contract. Updated information regarding the 
Signing Bonuses will be disclosed pursuant to the rules and policies of the CSE, and in 
the 2017 MIC when it becomes available.  

 

ITEM 16 INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

None of the current or former directors, executive officers, employees of AREV, or their 
respective associates or affiliates, are or have been indebted to AREV since the 
beginning of the Company’s last completed financial year.   

ITEM 17 RISK FACTORS 

17.1 Risk Factors 

This section discusses factors relating to AREV that should be considered by both 
existing and potential investors. The information in this section is intended to serve as an 
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overview and should not be considered comprehensive. AREV may face risks and 
uncertainties not discussed in this section, or not currently known to the management of 
AREV, or that they deem to be immaterial. All risks to AREV have the potential to 
influence its business and operations in a materially adverse manner.  

(1) Forward Looking Information  

Certain information set out in this Listing Statement includes or is based upon 
expectations, estimates, projections or other “forward looking information”. Such forward 
looking information includes projections or estimates made by AREV about its future 
business operations. While such forward looking statements and the assumptions 
underlying them are made in good faith and reflect AREV’s current judgment regarding 
the direction of their business, actual results will almost certainly vary (sometimes 
materially) from any estimates, predictions, projections, assumptions or other type of 
performance suggested here. 

(2) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Customer if a customer or party to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its financial obligations. The Company mitigates its cash credit 
loss by holding its cash in a major Canadian chartered bank. 

 
The objective of managing credit risk is to prevent losses in financial assets and it is 
the Company’s experience that the credit worthiness of its accounts receivable is 
adequate. 
 
The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of a bad debt 
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement. within 
operating expenses. When a receivable balance is considered uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance for accounts receivable. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to the bad debt account. During the year ended 
December 31, 2015, receivable balances of $nil (2014 - $nil) were written off.  
 
(3) Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Company is not currently exposed to market risk related to changes in foreign 
currency. Should it become exposed to this risk, it could adversely affect the value of 
the Company’s current assets and liabilities as well as impact revenues and profitability. 
The Company’s expenditures on goods and services are primarily in Canadian dollars. 
The Company has not entered into any forward currency contracts or other financial 
derivatives as of December 31, 2015 to hedge foreign exchange risk, and therefore 
is not subject to foreign currency transaction and translation gains and losses. 
 
(4) Interest Rate Risk 

The Company is exposed to interest rate price risk to the extent that the promissory note 
payable bears interest at a fixed rate. 
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(5) History of Net Losses 

The Company has a history of net losses. As at December 31, 2015, the Company 
has an accumulated deficit of $1,334,354. There is no assurance that the Company will 
grow and become profitable. 
 
(6) Financing Risk 

AREV’s ability to realize the inherent value of its assets is dependent on successfully 
advancing its technologies to market through product development and ultimately 
achieving future profitable operations, the outcome of which cannot be predicted at this 
time, or in the alternative being able to sell the assets for proceeds equal to their carrying 
value or greater.  
 
The Company has no committed sources of additional capital. In the future, AREV may 
need to raise additional capital through equity financings. Additional equity financings 
could result in significant dilution to shareholders. Funds may not be available to the 
Company in the future on favorable terms, if at all, and we may be required to delay, 
reduce the scope of, or eliminate research and development efforts and the patent 
protection for our product candidates.  
 
(7) Industry Risk 

The company will carry on business in the biotechnology sector, focusing on 
nutraceutical products. This industry involves a considerable degree of risk, regardless 
of the amount of knowledge, experience and expertise possessed by Management. 
 
(8) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they become due. The financial liabilities on its balance sheet consist 
of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and a promissory note payable. Management 
closely monitors cash flow requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand 
to meet operational and financial obligations as they become due. 
 
(9) Fair Values 

The fair values of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the relatively short-term 
nature of these instruments. The fair value of the Company’s promissory note payable 
approximates its carrying value due to the demand nature of the note and because 
it bears interest at a rate that approximates market value.  Cash is measured at fair 
value based on level 1 inputs. 
 
(10) Trading Market and Volatility 

General market conditions can have an impact on the market price of a company’s 
shares. It can happen that share prices of publicly traded companies can demonstrate 
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extreme price fluctuations that may not be related to the operations of the companies 
themselves. Thus, there can be no assurance that an active public market will develop 
or be sustained for the common shares of this company. 
 
(11) Product Liability 

AREV faces an inherent risk of financial exposure to product liability claims and adverse 
publicity in the event that the use of its products results in personal injury or death.  There 
can be no assurance that AREV will not experience losses due to product liability claims 
in the future.  
 
(12) Government Regulations 

The activity of the Company is subject to regulation by government authorities, 
particularly Health Canada. Achievement of the Company’s objectives are in direct 
relationship with its compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by Health 
Canada regarding the manufacture and sale of its products. The Company cannot 
predict what requirements a regulatory body may expect in the future, or the extent of 
testing and documentation that may be required in other countries. Any delays in 
obtaining or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would serve to delay the development 
of those markets and would therefore negatively affect the Company’s financial condition. 
 
(13) Risk Inherent in Research and Development Activities 

Activities in the health sector involve risk because the achievement of satisfactory 
research results depends on factors beyond the control of the Company. These factors 
could include the discovery of toxicities or lack of efficacy which could render the 
product unsuitable for public use, preliminary testing results may not be substantiated 
in larger test populations, manufacturing costs or other related factors may make the 
production of the product impractical and proprietary rights of third parties or competing 
products or technologies may impact sales. Consequently, there can be no assurance 
that the Company will be successful in bringing its products to market. 
 
(14) Risks Associated with the Development of Commercial Products 

AREV has not completed the development of any commercial products, and accordingly 
the Company has not begun to market or generate revenues from sales of the products 
it is developing.  Management does not anticipate that the Company will generate 
revenue from the sale of products in the foreseeable future.  
 
There can be no assurance that any of AREV’s product candidates will meet applicable 
health regulatory standards, obtain required regulatory approvals, be capable of being 
produced in commercial quantities at reasonable costs, be successfully marketed or that 
the investment made in such product candidates will be recouped through sales or related 
royalties.  There can be no assurance that AREV will ever achieve profitability.  As a 
result, an investment in the Company’s common shares involves a high degree of risk 
and should be considered only by those persons who can afford a total loss of their 
investment. 
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(15) Market Acceptance and Reliance on Distributors to Market Products 

There can be no assurance that the Company’s products will gain market share. The 
extent of public acceptance will depend on factors such as, availability of competitive 
products, cost of the products, and the efficacy of the products. The success of the 
Company’s marketing strategy will depend upon the strategic alliances and 
distributorship arrangements the Company develops and the ability of its distributors to 
market the product effectively. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in this regard. 

    
(16) Competition Risk 

AREV may not be able to contend successfully with competitors. The biotechnology 
industries are highly competitive and subject to significant and rapid technological change 
as researchers learn more about diseases and develop new technologies and 
treatments. The Company’s current and potential competitors generally include major 
multinational pharmaceutical companies, biopharmaceutical firms, specialty 
pharmaceutical companies, universities and other research institutions.  
 
Many of AREV’s competitors, either alone or together with their collaborators, have 
substantially greater financial resources and larger research, development and regulatory 
staffs than those of the Company. There can be no assurance that competitors will not 
develop more effective or more affordable products or product commercialization than 
AREV and its corporate collaborators.  
 
If AREV’s product candidates fail to gain market acceptance, the Company may be 
unable to earn sufficient revenue to continue its business.  If AREV’s products do not 
become widely accepted, it is unlikely that the Company will ever become profitable. 
 
(17) Risks Associated with Contracting Third Party Manufacturers 

There can be no assurance that AREV’s product candidates can be manufactured at a 
cost or in quantities necessary to make them commercially competitive or even 
viable.  AREV does not have any manufacturing facilities and depends on third party 
contract manufacturers and/or collaborators to produce products.  There can be no 
assurance that such third party manufacturers or collaborators will be able to meet 
AREV’s needs with respect to timing, quantity, quality or pricing.  If AREV is unable to 
contract for a sufficient supply of product on acceptable terms, or if the Company should 
encounter delays or difficulties in its relationships with manufacturers or collaborators, 
product sales would be delayed, thereby delaying the submission of products for market 
introduction and subsequent sales of such products. 
 
(18) Raw Material Supply 

The Company uses naturally grown substances as its raw material. Should a situation 
arise whereupon the company cannot secure a reliable source of raw material at any 
given time, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to supply finished 
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products to its distributors and that situation would negatively impact revenue. 
 
(19) Risks Associated with Managing Growth 

AREV’s future growth, if any, may cause a significant strain on management, operational, 
financial and other resources. The failure of AREV’s management team to effectively 
manage growth could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
(20) Intellectual Property and Licenses 

AREV’s success will depend in part on the Company’s ability to obtain and enforce 
patents and maintain trade secrets. 
 
AREV’s commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without 
infringing the patents and proprietary rights of third parties, and there can be no 
assurance that the Company’s products do not or will not infringe on the proprietary rights 
of others.  
 
Litigation may also be necessary to enforce technology licensed to AREV or to determine 
the scope and validity of a third party’s proprietary rights.  AREV could incur substantial 
costs if litigation is required to defend the Company in such suits.    
 
(21) Conflicts of Interest of Directors and Officers 

Certain of AREV’s directors and officers may, from time to time, serve as directors or 
officers of other companies involved in similar businesses to the Company and, to the 
extent that such other companies may participate in the same ventures in which the 
Company may seek to participate, such directors and officers may have a conflict of 
interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such 
participation.  Such conflicts of AREV’s directors and officers may result in a material and 
adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial conditions. 

  
17.2 Additional Securityholder Risks 

There is no risk that securityholders of AREV may become liable to make an additional 
contribution beyond the price of the security.  

17.3 Other Risks 

Subject to the risk factors set out under Item 17.1 above, there are no other material risk 
factors that a reasonable investor would consider relevant to an investment in AREV’s 
securities. 

ITEM 18 PROMOTERS 

Michael Withrow is the only promoter of AREV.  
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Michael Withrow exercises control over 3,500,000 common shares of the Company, 
amounting to 29.38% of total issued common shares of the Company. 

Michael Withrow received 2,000,000 AREV Shares and a convertible debenture with a 
cash value of $300,000, convertible into Units of the Company, as consideration for 
vending the FFE Equipment to AREV.  

Michael Withrow received 1,500,000 AREV Shares as consideration for vending the 
Poultry Patent to AREV.  

Michael Withrow received a convertible debenture with a cash value of $115,000, 
convertible into Units of the Company, as consideration for converting the principal and 
interest owed by AREV to Michael Withrow through the Credit Facility.  

ITEM 19 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

19.1 Legal Proceedings 

AREV is not a party to or subject to any outstanding judgements, lawsuits, or proceedings 
and, to the knowledge of the Company, there are no pending lawsuits or proceedings. 

19.2 Regulatory Actions 

As disclosed above, the BCSC, ASC and OSC issued CTOs against AREV effective May 
8, May 6, and May 25, 2016, respectively. The CTOs were issued due to AREV’s failure 
to meet its ongoing continuous disclosure requirements under applicable securities laws. 
The Commissions revoked the CTOs on February 9, 2016, and the Company is now up 
to date with its continuous disclosure obligations under applicable securities laws. Please 
see Item 3.1 for further information.   

On January 15, 2016, as a result of the CTOs, the CSE issued the Suspension against 
AREV and halted the Company’s shares from trading. The Suspension is still in effect as 
of the date of this Listing Statement.  

ITEM 20 INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Management and other related parties had no direct or indirect material interests in any 
material transactions in the three years before the date of this Listing Statement. 

Management and other related parties will have direct or indirect material interests in the 
following proposed material transactions, which are expected to occur subsequent to the 
date of this Listing Statement: 

(1) The Maher Contract 

As disclosed above in “ITEM 15 – EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION”, subject to the 
Suspension being lifted, AREV intends to enter into the Maher Contract with Mr. Maher, 
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pursuant to which he will receive compensation for his work as CEO, Interim CFO, and 
director of the Company in the form of a monthly fee, payable in cash.    

(2) The Signing Bonuses  

AREV granted Mr. Maher 500,000 AREV Shares as a signing bonus pursuant to the 
Maher Contract and Dr. Rehmann 200,000 AREV Shares as a signing bonus pursuant 
to the Rehmann Contract. 

ITEM 21 AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

21.1 Auditors 

Collins Barrow LLP (“Collins Barrow”) is the independent registered certified auditor of 
AREV. Collins Barrow’s offices are located at 1400 First Alberta Place, 777 – 8th Avenue 
South West, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3R5. 
 

21.2 Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The transfer agent and registrar of the AREV Shares is Computershare Trust Company 
of Canada, located in Vancouver, British Columbia. 
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ITEM 22 MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The following table summarizes the material contracts of AREV, entered into within two 
years before the date of this Listing Statement: 

 
Name of Contract Parties Date Nature of Contract and Consideration 
Credit Facility 
Agreement 

Michael 
Withrow 
AREV  

July 8, 
2015 

Credit Facility Agreement whereby Michael Withrow 
agreed to advance funds to AREV, to a maximum of 
$50,000, for the sole purpose of satisfying the 
Company’s outstanding accrued obligations. Interest 
accumulates on amounts outstanding under the Credit 
Facility at a rate of 10.0% per annum, compounded 
monthly. The term of the Credit Facility is from July 8, 
2015 to January 8, 2016. The due date for payment of 
the entire amount outstanding under the Credit Facility 
is January 8, 2016.   

Amendment Agreement 
to the Credit Facility 
Agreement 

Michael 
Withrow 
AREV 

December 
24, 2015 

Amendment to the terms of the Credit Facility 
Agreement dated July 8, 2015. The amount available 
to AREV under the Credit Facility was increased from 
$50,000 to $100,000, and the deadline for repayment 
for amounts owing under the Credit Facility was 
extended until January 31, 2016. The amount 
outstanding under the Credit Facility is now payable on 
demand by Mr. Withrow.   

Equipment Purchase 
and License Agreement 

Michael 
Withrow 
AREV 

September 
16, 2016 

Equipment Purchase and License Agreement whereby 
Michael Withrow agreed to sell, transfer and assign 
assembled apparatus for extracting oils from natural 
biomass using fast freeze extraction methods and 
certain engineering know-how, business models and 
trade secrets to AREV. 

Patent Assignment 
Agreement 

Michael 
Withrow 
AREV 

September 
16, 2016 

Patent Assignment Agreement whereby Michael 
Withrow agreed to assign the Poultry Patent to AREV. 

COCO-MULSION 
Products Acquisition 
Agreement 

Stephane 
Maher 
AREV 

September 
16, 2016 

Acquisition Agreement whereby Stephane Maher 
agreed to sell rights for the COCO-MULSION Products 
to AREV. 

The Maher Contract Stephane 
Maher 
AREV 

September 
16, 2016 

Consulting Agreement whereby Stephane Maher 
agreed to act as CEO and Director of AREV. 

The Rehmann Contract Nils Rehmann 
AREV 

September 
16, 2016 

Consulting Agreement whereby Nils Rehmann agreed 
to act as a Director of AREV. 

Subscription 
Agreement 

Private Placee 
AREV 

September 
16, 2016 

Subscription Agreement whereby Private Placees 
subscribed for a total of 5,200,000 AREV units at a 
deemed value of $0.05 per unit. 

 
ITEM 23 INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

No person whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by such 
person and who is named in this Listing Statement (being the auditors of the Company) 
has received or will receive a direct or indirect interest in the property of the Company or 
any Related Person of the Company. As at the date hereof, the aforementioned persons 
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beneficially own, directly or indirectly, no securities of the Company. In addition, none of 
the aforementioned persons nor any director, officer, or employee of any of the 
aforementioned persons, is or is expected to be elected, appointed, or employed as a 
director, senior officer, promoter, or employee of the Company. 

ITEM 24 OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

At the Meeting of AREV shareholders on March 29, 2016, shareholders approved the 
following matters: 

(1) Change of Name and Symbol 

Subject to the lifting of the Suspension and CSE approval, AREV will change its name 
on the CSE to “AREV Nutrition Sciences Inc.” (the “Name Change”) and its CSE symbol 
from “GNS” to “ARV” (the “Symbol Change”).  The symbol “ARV” was reserved with the 
CSE for AREV on July 20, 2016. 

(2) Share Consolidation 

Subject to the lifting of the Suspension, AREV will consolidate the issued and outstanding 
AREV Shares on a basis to be determined by the Board (the “Consolidation”). The 
Consolidation shall be no greater than thirty-three (33) pre-consolidation AREV Shares 
for every one (1) post-consolidation AREV Share.    

(3) Continuation from Alberta into British Columbia  

Subject to approval from the Registrars of Companies in both British Columbia and 
Alberta, AREV will continue out of Alberta and into British Columbia, whereupon the 
Company will be governed by the BCBCA (the “Continuation”). When the Continuation 
is effected, AREV will adopt new charter documents in the form of a “notice of articles” 
and “articles of incorporation”, pursuant to the requirements of the BCBCA.    

ITEM 25 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following financial statements are attached as appendices to this Listing Statement: 

• Appendix “D” Audited Financial Statements of AREV for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013.  

• Appendix “E” Audited Financial Statements of AREV for the years ended 
December 31, 2015 and 2014.  

• Appendix “F” Unaudited Financial Statements for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2016.  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY  

The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 
promoter of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer.  In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying 
following a fundamental change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, 
any person or company who is a promoter of the target and two directors of the target.  
 
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER  
 
Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, AREV Nutrition Sciences Inc. 
hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange. The foregoing 
contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to AREV Nutrition 
Sciences Inc.  It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a 
material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made 
from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  
 
 Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia this 14th day of December, 2016. 

 
 

 
 
_” Stephane Maher” _____________ 
STEPHANE MAHER 
CEO, Interim CFO, Director 

 
 
_” Mike Withrow” ______________ 

MICHAEL WITHROW 
Promoter and Director 

 
 
 
 
___”Nils Rehmann”______________ 
NILS REHMANN 

  Director 

 
 
 
 
__”Scott McDermid”_____________ 
SCOTT MCDERMID 
Director 
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Appendix “A”  

Annual MD&A for the Year Ended December 31, 2014 
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Immunall Science Inc.
(the “Corporation”, “Company”, or “Immunall”)

Management Discussion and Analysis
For the Year ended
December 31, 2014

The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Company’s 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 is intended 
to help the reader to understand the Company’s business performance 
and its relationship to the Immunall plan for growth. All amounts are 
expressed in Canadian dollars.  The information contained in this 
management’s discussion and analysis report reflects all material 
events occurring up to July 31, 2015 on which date it was approved by 
the Board of Directors.

The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited financial 
statements and notes for the year ended December 31, 2014. These 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). 
These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenue, expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities.   This MD&A may contain management estimates of future 
trends and results.  These estimates are not a guarantee of future 
performance since actual results may vary based on situations and 
factors that are not within management’s control.  Management 
believes that the estimates and assumptions upon which it relies are 
reasonable based on information available at the time that these 
estimates and assumptions have been made. Actual results may differ 
under different assumptions and conditions. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the 
financial statements, including the maintenance of appropriate 
information systems, procedures and internal controls.  Management 
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is also responsible to make certain that all information disclosed 
externally is reliable.

The Board of Directors of Immunall Science Inc. is committed to 
following the recommended corporate governance guidelines for 
public companies to ensure transparency and accountability to its 
shareholders.   The Board’s audit committee has complete access to 
review the Company’s financial statements, and to discuss and 
review any and all matters concerning finance, operations, internal 
control matters and the MD&A.  The Audit Committee is free to meet 
with the Company’s independent auditors at any time. 

Forward Looking Statements 

Management’s discussion and analysis contain certain forward-
looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that 
may cause actual results or events to differ materially from the results 
or events predicted in this discussion. In addition to the risk outlined 
in the Risk Management section at the end of the discussion, factors 
which could cause actual results or events to differ include, but are 
not limited to: the impact of competition; the possible impact of Bill 
C51 pertaining to increased regulation of natural products, consumer 
confidence and spending levels; general economic conditions; the 
cost and availability of capital and product development. No 
assurance can be given that the results, performance or achievement 
expressed in, or implied by, forward-looking statements within this 
disclosure will occur, or if they do, that any benefits may be derived 
from them. 

Results of Operations 

Revenue 

The Company generated $nil revenue for the years ended December 
31, 2014 and 2013. 

Operating Expenses   

Operating expenses, consisting primarily of professional fees and 
listing expenses, for the year were $30,156 (2013 - $34,105). The 
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Company has no paid employees.

Net Loss

The Company failed to generate any sales revenue in each of the 
fiscal years ending December 31, 2014 and 2013. At the end of the 
2014 fiscal year, the Company discontinued its operations and wrote 
down its inventory and equipment to nil value.  This action resulted in 
a loss of $75,223.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 

Cash on hand $1,699 (2013 - $5,849)
Working capital deficiency $80,181 (2013 – $5,526)
Total Assets $3,503 (2013 - $52,805)
Total Liabilities $83,684 (2013 - $57,763)
Loss per share basic and diluted: $.002 (2013 –  $.001) 
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2014

Due to the lack of sales and insufficient operating capital, the 
Company ceased operations at the end of 2014.

CASH FLOWS  

Operating activities accounted for a $4,150 cash decrease during 
2014 (2013 –$28,641).  Cash used for operations was mainly 
dedicated to compliance costs. 

Related Party Transactions:

(a) The Company has not entered into transactions with related 
parties during 2014 or 2013, however $45,000 in accounts payable 
remain outstanding related to consulting fees charged by 
corporations owned by management and directors in prior periods.

Amounts included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due 
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under normal credit terms. 

(b) The Company has not paid any compensation to executives, 
directors or employees during the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013.

QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS

2014 2014        2014          2014

    Q1       Q2      Q3       Q4
Net loss for the period $(5,971) $(4,465) $(2,107) $(62,680)

Per basic and diluted 
share

$(.000) $(.000) $(.000) $(.002)

        

2013     2013      2013           2013

    Q1       Q2      Q3      Q4

Net loss for the period $(1,023) $(12,913) $(3,585) $(15,566)
Per basic and diluted 
share

$(.000) $(.000) $(.000) $(.001)

Results of the year ending December 31, 2014.

Operating results for the year had no sales combined with minimal 
operating expenses.. The net loss is due to the lack of completed 
sales during the year, combined with operating expenses and a write-
down of the remaining inventory.

SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

      2014      2013      2012
Revenue for 
the year

$    (nil) $    (nil) $(nil)

Net income 
(loss) for the 

  (75,223)   (34,015) (48,951)
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year
Net income 
(loss) Per basic 
and diluted 
share

  (.002) (.001)   (.001)

Total assets   3,503    52,805   83,465    

Long term debt Nil Nil Nil

Significant Accounting Estimates

The valuation of inventory is based on management's best estimate 
of the net realizable value of slow moving or obsolete inventory. 
Allowances are made against obsolete or damaged inventories and 
charged to cost of sales.  The reversal of any write-down of inventory 
arising from an increase in net realizable value is recognized as a 
reduction in cost of sales in the period in which the reversal occurred.

The amount of inventory recognized as an expense during the year 
ended December 31, 2014 was $44,754 (2013 - $NIL) related to a 
write-down of inventory to its net realizable value. This value was 
determined to be $NIL at December 31, 2014 based
on future plans of management and current market conditions

Deferred income tax is based on estimates as to the timing of the 
reversal of temporary differences, tax rates currently substantively 
enacted and the determination of the valuation allowance.  The 
valuation allowance is based on estimates of the probability of the 
Company utilizing certain tax pools and losses in future periods.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ADOPTED DURING THE 
YEAR

On January 1, 2014, the Company adopted the following new 
standards and amendments which became effective for annual 
periods on or after January 1, 2014:

 IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 21 "Levies" which 
provides guidanceon accounting for levies in accordance with the 
requirements of lAS 37,"Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
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Contingent Assets". The interpretation
clarifies that an entity is to recognize a liability for a levy when the 
activity that triggers the payment occurs. The interpretation also 
clarifies that a levy liability is to be accrued progressively only if the 
activity that triggers payment occurs over a period of time, in 
accordance with the relevant legislation. The adoption
of this interpretation did not have a significant impact on the 
Company's financial statements.

�lAS 36 (amended), "Impairment of Assets". The amendments 
reduce the circumstances in which the recoverable amount of cash 
generating units, "CGUs", is required to be disclosed and clarifies the 
disclosures required when an impairment loss has been recognized
or reversed in the period. The adoption of this amendment did not 
have a significant impact on the Company’sfinancial statements.

�The Company adopted several narrow-scope amendments to a 
total of nine standards issued by IASB in December 2013. The 
adoption of these amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements.

�IFRS 12, "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities", combines the 
disclosure requirements for entities that have interest in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, and associates as well as unconsolidated 
structured entities. The adoption of this standard had no impact on 
the Company's financial statements.

In addition to the adoption of the standards as detailed above, the 
Company will be required to adopt each of the following new 
standards in future years:

�IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" 
provides a comprehensive new standard for
accounting for all aspects of financial instruments. It includes a logical 
model for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking 
'expected-loss' impairment model and a substantially reformed 
approach to hedge accounting. The new standard is effective for 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company has not 
determined the impact of the new standard on its
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financial statements.

 IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers"
IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" provides a 
comprehensive new standard for recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of revenue from contracts with customers, excluding 
contracts within the scope of the standards
on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. It specifies 
how and when to recognize revenue as well as requiring entities to 
provide more informative and relevant disclosure. The new standard 
is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The 
Company has not determined the impact of the new standard on its 
financial statements.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

The following securities of the Corporation were issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013.

Security # Issued and Outstanding
Common voting shares 33,435,762 (2013 – 33,435,762)

On January 11, 2011, the Company issued a joint management 
information circular and proxy statement relating to the amalgamation 
of the Company with Altius Edge Ltd. The amalgamation was 
completed on March 31, 2011, at which point holders of certificates 
formerly representing Immunall shares had two years to surrender 
those certificates in exchange for new Immunall share certificates, 
representing common share ownership of the Company.  At March 
31, 2013, 8,830,080 certificates formerly representing Immunall 
shares had not been surrendered and exchanged, resulting in the 
cancellation of the associated common shares of the Company. 

Historically, the Company has financed its operations through the 
issuance of common shares and shareholder loans.

The Company has a stock option plan in place, however no options 
were outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2103.
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General 

Subsequent to year end, the Company signed an agreement with a 
third party to advance funds up to a maximum of $50,000 to cover 
operating costs.  The facility will bear interest at 10% per annum 
compounded annually and will accrue daily.  All amounts are 
repayable on demand subsequent to January 8, 2016.  As at July 31, 
2015, $41,625 has been advanced under the facility.

The Company has no other credit facility arrangement with any 
lending institution. Consequently, there might not be sufficient funds 
available to meet foreseeable requirements for business growth, 
working capital, and capital expenditures. The Company’s working 
capital and capital expenditure requirements will depend upon 
numerous factors including the success of current negotiations and 
the results, if any, of efforts to attract business opportunities into the 
Immunall corporate entity. In the future, the Company may require 
additional capital to fund operations, research and development, and 
strategic initiatives.  The Company has no contractual obligations or 
off-balance sheet financing. 

The Company will attempt to generate financing when required 
through the issuance of private placements or debentures as may be 
considered necessary by management. There can be no assurance 
that any of these methods will be successful in the future. The ability 
of the Company to raise funds from the issuance of additional share 
capital or from the exercise of future share options will depend upon 
the strength of the equity markets, which are always uncertain, and 
the future plans for the operations of the Company.  

Contractual Obligations

During the 2007 year, the Company entered into a licensing and 
royalty memorandum of understanding with the initial developer of the
ginseng technology that was being utilized exclusively by the 
Company for the production of products from ginseng roots.  
Consideration paid by the Company to obtain the exclusive licensing 
for the technology included the transfer of all patents previously held 
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by the Company, a cash payment of $10,000, and a royalty of 5% of 
the invoiced cost of each production run incurred by the Company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Total cash on hand as at December 31, 2014 was $1,699 (2013 -
$5,849). The company had no credit facilities in place with any 
banking institution.  Subsequent to year end, the Company signed an 
agreement with a third party to advance funds up to a maximum of 
$50,000 to cover operating costs.  The facility will bear interest at 
10% per annum compounded annually and will accrue daily.  All 
amounts are repayable on demand subsequent to January 8, 2016.  
As at July 31, 2015, $41,625 has been advanced under the facility.
Management is cautioning the reader of this MD&A, that there may 
not be sufficient cash on hand to sustain activities in the future, 
without sales revenue or the ability to raise additional cash in these 
current economic times.  

Operating Risks and Risk Management 

Expectations about the Company's financial achievements could 
have a significant effect on the trading price of the Company's 
shares.  Except for historical information, certain matters discussed in 
this report are by their nature forward-looking statements that involve 
risk and uncertainties, which may cause actual results to differ 
materially from the statements made. 

Financial Risks and Risk Management 

(a) Risk management overview

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks 
including credit risk and liquidity risk. This note presents information 
about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial 
statements. The Company employs risk management strategies and 
polices to ensure that any exposure to risk are in compliance with the 
Company’s business objectives and risk tolerance levels. While the 
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Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the Company’s 
risk management framework, the Company’s management has the 
responsibility to administer and monitor these risks.

(b) Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of the Company's cash and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate their carrying value due to immediate 
or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. Currently, the 
Company is not involved in any hedging activities.

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of 
financial position are classified using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 - reflects valuation based on quoted prices observed in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - reflects valuation techniques based on inputs that are 
quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices 
for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; 
inputs other than quoted prices used in a valuation model that are 
observable for that instrument; and inputs that are derived principally 
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or 
other means.

Level 3 - reflects valuation techniques with significant 
unobservable market inputs.

A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy 
for which a significant input has been considered in measuring fair 
value. The financial instrument in the Company's financial statements 
measured at Level 1 fair value is cash.

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any 
counterparty fails to discharge its obligations.
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Credit risk exists in cash, which is mitigated by the Company holding 
its cash in major Canadian banking financial institutions.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities as they 
become due. The financial liabilities on the statements of financial 
position consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, which 
includes $45,000 due to related parties (note 7) that is not expected 
to be repaid in the next year. Management closely monitors cash flow 
requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet 
operational and financial obligations as they become due.

(e) Capital risk management

The Company's objectives in managing its capital is to safeguard the 
Company's assets to be able to continue as a going concern, and to 
sustain future development of the business.

Management defines capital as the Company's shareholders' equity 
(deficiency). The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it according to economic market conditions. 

Management monitors the Company's ongoing capital requirements 
against unrestricted net working capital and assesses expected 
capital requirements for the fiscal period. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust spending, issue 
new shares, sell assets or incur debt.

There have been no changes to the Company's capital disclosure 
policy during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Foreign exchange: 

The Company is not currently exposed to market risk related to 
changes in foreign currency. Should it become exposed to this risk, it 
could adversely affect the value of the Company’s current assets and 
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liabilities as well as impact revenues and profitability. The Company’s 
expenditures on goods and services are primarily in Canadian 
dollars. The company has not entered into any forward currency 
contracts or other financial derivatives as of December 31, 2014 to 
hedge foreign exchange risk and therefore is not subject to foreign 
currency transaction and translation gains and losses. 

Interest rate risk: 

The Company currently has no exposure to interest rate risks as it 
does not have any debt subject to interest rate fluctuations. 

Other risk factors:

The Company has a history of net losses.  As at December 31, 2014, 
the Company has an accumulated deficit of $1,250,198 (2013-
($1,174,975).  There is no assurance that the Company will grow and 
be profitable.

Trading Market and Volatility:

General market conditions can have an impact on the market price of 
a company’s shares.  It can happen that share prices of publicly 
traded companies can demonstrate extreme price fluctuations that 
may not be related to the operations of the companies themselves.  
Thus, there can be no assurance that an active public market will 
develop or be sustained for the common shares of this company.   

Outlook 

Management has discontinued its ginseng operations and is currently 
seeking new opportunities for the Company.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document contains forward-looking statements which reflect the 
Company’s current expectations regarding future events.  These 
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.  Actual 
results may differ materially from those projected and depend on a 
number of factors, including but not limited to uncertainties in the 
regulatory process, difficulty of predicting demand for products, the 
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impact of competitive products, the availability of adequate supplies 
of raw materials, the protection of intellectual property and 
fluctuations in operating results.  The reader is cautioned not to rely 
on these forward-looking statements.

Additional information on the Company is found on the SEDAR 
website at: www.sedar.com.

Frank Phillet CEO 
Immunall Science Inc. 
July 31, 2015
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The following is a discussion of the financial condition and results of operations of Immunall Science Inc. (the 
“Corporation”, “Company”, or “Immunall”) during the year ended December 31, 2015 and to the date of this report. 
The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, which have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This MD&A complements and supplements, but does not 
form part of the Company’s financial statements. 
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements, including those not specifically 
identified herein, are made subject to cautionary language on page 9. Readers are advised to refer to the 
cautionary language when reading any forward-looking statements. 
 
All dollar amounts contained herein are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. This MD&A has 
been prepared as of April 26, 2016.  Additional information on the Company is available on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
 
BUSINESS OVERVIEW  
Immunall Science Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on 
November 22, 2005. The Company was a research company engaged in the business of developing and 
commercializing technology related to the growth and extraction of active ingredients from American Ginseng.  
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company ceased actively developing its ginseng operations and is 
currently inactive.  
 
The Company is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol “GNS”.  On May 8, 2015, 
the CNSX suspended the Company’s shares from trading on the CSE as a result of a cease trade order issued by 
the British Columbia Securities Commission (“BCSC”) because the Company failed to file its comparative financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, as required under Part 4 of National Instrument 51-102 
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (“NI 51-102”), and a Form 51-102F1 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(“MDA”) for the year ended December 31, 2014, within the mandatory timeline. The Company has now filed its 
annual audited financial statements and MDA for the year ended December 31, 2014 and the quarter ended June 
30, 2015. The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at 10979 – 127th 
Street, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, T5M 0T1. 
 
On December 10, 2010, the Company entered into an amalgamation agreement with Altius Edge Ltd. (“Altius”), 
Aileron Ventures Ltd. (“Aileron”) and Nautor Progressive Corporation (“Nautor”), pursuant to which the Company 
and Altius would amalgamate to form a single reporting issuer known as “Immunall Science Inc.”. 
 
On April 1, 2011, the Company and Altius completed an amalgamation to form a new company to continue under 
the name Immunall Science Inc., which was approved by the shareholders of each of the Company and Altius at 
shareholder meetings. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 On July 9, 2015, the Company entered into a credit facility agreement with a third party to advance funds to 
the Company to a maximum of $50,000 to cover operating costs. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA 
 

As at    December 31, 2015   December 31, 2014 
Total assets $ 17,520  $ 3,503 
Total liabilities   178,401   83,684 

 
 
Three months ended December 31, 2015 compared to three months ended December 31, 2014  
 
The Company incurred a net loss and comprehensive loss of $50,263 during the three months ended December 
31, 2015, a decrease of $12,417, when compared with the loss of $62,680 for the three months ended December 
31, 2014.  The decrease in net loss is primarily the result of the net decrease in the following operating and other 
expenses during the three months ended December 31, 2015: 
 
 Audit fees were $5,850 for the three months ended December 31, 2015 compared to $10,907 for the three 

months ended December 31, 2014.  During the three months ended December 31, 2015, the Company 
accrued $5,850 for the audit fees, compared to $13,300 during the three months ended December 31, 2014.  
 

 Consulting fees were $6,550 for the three months ended December 31, 2015 compared to $Nil for the three 
months ended December 31, 2014.  The consulting fees for the three months ended December 31, 2015 were 
primarily related to the fees paid for the services to an accounting firm in respect of the preparation of the 
year-end financial statements, bookkeeping and other general consulting for business activities. 

 
 Legal Fees increased by $17,276 to $19,669 for the three months ended December 31, 2015, from $2,393 for 

the three months ended December 31, 2014.  This increase is primarily due to the amendment to the final 
credit facility agreement and filing requirements to commission securities. 

 
 Corporate listing and filing fees increased by $3,515 to $7,655 for the three months ended December 31, 

2015, from $4,140 for the three months ended December 31, 2014.  This increase is primarily due to the 
annual filing fees paid to the securities commission. 

 
 Interest and bank charges increased by $1,340 to $1,394 for the three months ended December 31, 2015, 

from $54 for the three months ended December 31, 2014.  This increase is primarily due to the interest 
accrued on the loan agreement signed on July 8, 2015. 

 
 Office and Rent expenses were $1,663 and $7,050, respectively for the three months ended December 31, 

2015 compared to $Nil and $Nil, respectively, for the three months ended December 31, 2014.  Office and 
Rent expenses paid during the three months ended December 31, 2015 were mainly related to the 
water/sewer costs and base rents paid pursuant to the office lease agreement signed on August 27, 2015. 

 
 Travel expenses were $432 for the three months ended December 31, 2015 compared to $Nil for the three 

months ended December 31, 2014.  The travel expenses paid during the three months ended December 31, 
2015 was mainly related to the reimbursement of travel costs for the consultants for the meeting at the head 
office. 

 
 Other expenses were $Nil for the three months ended December 31, 2015 compared to $44,754 and $313 of 

the write-down of the inventory and of property and equipment, respectively, during the three months ended 
December 31, 2014.  Inventory, and property and equipment were written down, as they became obsolete due 
to the lack of sales during the three months ended December 31, 2014. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014  
 
The Company incurred a net loss and comprehensive loss of $80,700 during the year ended December 31, 2015, 
an increase of $5,477, when compared with the loss of $75,223 for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The 
increase in net loss is primarily the result of the net increase in the following expenses during the year ended 
December 31, 2015: 
 
 Consulting fees were $12,170 for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $Nil for the year ended 

December 31, 2014.  The consulting fees for the year ended December 31, 2015 were primarily related to the 
fees paid for the services to an accounting firm in respect of the preparation of the year-end financial 
statements, bookkeeping and other general consulting for business activities. 

 
 Legal Fees increased by $17,276 to $19,669 for the year ended December 31, 2015, from $2,393 for the year 

ended December 31, 2014.  This increase is primarily due to the amendment to the final credit facility 
agreement and filing requirements to commission securities. 

 
 Corporate listing and filing fees increased by $5,785 to $18,187 for the year ended December 31, 2015, from 

$12,402 for the year ended December 31, 2014.  This increase is primarily due to the annual filing fees paid to 
the securities commission. 

 
 Interest and bank charges increased by $2,475 to $2,780 for the year ended December 31, 2015, from $305 

for the year ended December 31, 2014.  This increase is primarily due to the interest accrued on the loan 
agreement signed on July 8, 2015. 

 
 Office and Rent expenses were $2,071 and $9,400, respectively for the year ended December 31, 2015 

compared to $Nil and $Nil, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2014.  Office and Rent expenses 
paid during the year ended December 31, 2015 were mainly related to the water/sewer costs and base rents 
paid pursuant to the office lease agreement signed on August 27, 2015. 

 
 Travel expenses were $2,025 for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $Nil for the year ended 

December 31, 2014.  The travel expenses paid during the year ended December 31, 2015 was mainly related 
to the reimbursement of travel costs for the consultants for the meeting at the head office. 

 
 Other expenses were $Nil for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $44,754 and $313 of the write-

down of the inventory and of property and equipment, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2014.  
Inventory, and property and equipment were written down, as they became obsolete due to the lack of sales 
during the year ended December 31, 2014. 
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Summary of quarterly operating results 
 

Revenue 

Loss before 
other income 

and expenses

Total 
comprehensive 

loss

Basic and 
diluted loss per 
common share

Weighted 
average number 

of common 
shares

Q4/15 December 31, 2015  $                        -  $            (50,263)  $            (50,263)  $                (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q3/15 September 30, 2015                          -                  (18,518)                (18,518)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q2/15 June 30, 2015                            -                (10,374)                (10,374)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q1/15 March 31, 2015                            -                  (1,545)                  (1,545)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q4/14 December 31, 2014                            -                (17,613)                (62,680)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q3/14 September 30, 2014                            -                  (2,107)                  (2,107)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q2/14 June 30, 2014                            -                  (4,465)                  (4,465)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q1/14 March 31, 2014                            -                  (5,971)                  (5,971)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 
Q4/13 December 31, 2013                            -                (15,657)                (15,567)                    (0.00)           33,435,762 

Quarter ended 

 
 
The Company had increased professional and regulatory costs starting in the quarter ended December 31, 2014. 

 
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA  
As at April 26, 2016, there are: 
 

 33,435,762 (December 31, 2015 – 33,435,762) common shares outstanding;  
 Nil warrants outstanding (December 31, 2015 – Nil), and 
 Nil stock options outstanding (December 31, 2015 – Nil). 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company did not issue any shares. 
 

SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

The shareholders at the annual general meeting held on March 29, 2016 approved consolidation of the number of 
common shares outstanding. As a result of the consolidation, every 33 common shares will be consolidated to one 
common share. This transaction is pending approval of the shareholders and the BCSC. 
 
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, further loan advances in the amount of $6,980 were made to 
the Company under the loan agreement. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company does not have sufficient working capital to continue operations in the normal course for the 
foreseeable future and will require additional financing to remain financially solvent. 
 
The Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation in the foreseeable future and will be 
able to realize its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal course of business. At December 31, 2015, the 
Company had a working capital deficiency of $169,999 (December 31, 2014 – $80,181). It has incurred losses and 
negative cash flows from operations since inception, and had an accumulated deficit of $1,330,898 as at December 
31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 – $1,250,198).  Accounts payable includes $45,000 owing to directors that will not be 
repaid until sufficient cash flow is available.   
 
Management is currently investigating a range of strategic options available with a view to generating income 
sufficient to pay its liabilities and ongoing operating expenses, and maximizing shareholder value.  On July 8, 2015, 
the Company entered into a credit facility agreement with a third party.  The Company may be required to obtain 
additional debt or equity financing or curtail spending in the future to fund operations and settle obligations. 
 
 



Immunall Science Inc. 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis  
For the year ended December 31, 2015 
 

 

Page 5 of 10 
 

 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
The Company does not currently have any proposed transactions approved by the Board of Directors. All current 
transactions are fully disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The information provided in this report, including the Financial Statements, is the responsibility of management. In 
the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary to make a determination of future values 
for certain assets or liabilities. Management believes such estimates have been based on careful judgments and 
have been properly reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
APPROVAL 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors has approved the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2015. The Company’s Board of Directors has also approved the disclosures contained in this MD&A. A copy of 
this MD&A will be provided to anyone who requests it and is available on www.sedar.com. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Related Parties 

The Company’s related parties consist of its Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). 
The nature of the Company’s relationships with its related parties is as follows: 
 

 Nature of Relationship 
Chief Operating Officer Management 
Chief Financial Officer Management 

 

The Company did not incur fees and expenses in the normal course of operations in connection with its COO and 
CFO during the year ended December 31, 2015. However, $45,000 in accounts payable (December 31, 2014 - 
$45,000) remains outstanding relating to consulting fees charged by corporations owned by former management 
and directors in prior periods. 

Amounts included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due under normal credit terms. 

Compensation on Key Management Personnel 

The Company has not paid any compensation to executives, directors or employees during the year ended 
December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 - $Nil). 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Company is in the biotechnology business focusing on nutraceutical products and as such is exposed to a 
number of risks and uncertainties that are not uncommon to other companies in the same business. The Company 
has no ongoing revenue or income from operations. The Company has limited capital resources and has to rely 
upon the sale its assets or sale of its common shares for cash required to make new investments and to fund the 
administration of the Company. 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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These risks may not be the only risks faced by the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known 
by the Company or which are presently considered immaterial may also adversely impact the Company’s business, 
results of operations, and financial performance. The most significant risks and uncertainties faced by the Company 
are (in no specific order) are: 
 
There is expressed doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, which may hinder our ability to 
achieve our objectives 
 
The Company’s ability to realize the inherent value of its assets is dependent on successfully advancing its 
technologies to market through product development and ultimately achieving future profitable operations, the 
outcome of which cannot be predicted at this time, or in the alternative being able to sell the assets for proceeds 
equal to their carrying value or greater. 
 
We have no committed sources of additional capital. In the future we may need to raise additional capital through 
equity financings. Additional equity financings could result in significant dilution to shareholders. Funds may not be 
available to us in the future on favorable terms, if at all, and we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or 
eliminate research and development efforts and the patent protection for our product candidates. 
 
We have not completed the development of any commercial products and have no revenues from the sale 
of products; we may not achieve profitability 
 
We have not completed the development of any commercial products, and accordingly we have not begun to 
market or generate revenues from sales of the products we are developing. We do not anticipate that we will 
generate revenue from the sale of products in the foreseeable future. 
 
There can be no assurance that any of our product candidates will meet applicable health regulatory standards, 
obtain required regulatory approvals, be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at reasonable costs, 
be successfully marketed or that the investment made in such product candidates will be recouped through sales or 
related royalties. There can be no assurance that we will ever achieve profitability. As a result, an investment in our 
common shares involves a high degree of risk and should be considered only by those persons who can afford a 
total loss of their investment. 
 
Our products may not gain meaningful market acceptance, and we may not become profitable 
 
We may not be able to contend successfully with competitors. The biotechnology industries are highly competitive 
and subject to significant and rapid technological change as researchers learn more about diseases and develop 
new technologies and treatments. Our current and potential competitors generally include major multinational 
pharmaceutical companies, biopharmaceutical firms, specialty pharmaceutical companies, universities and other 
research institutions. 
 
Many of our competitors, either alone or together with their collaborators, have substantially greater financial 
resources and larger research, development and regulatory staffs than ours. There can be no assurance that 
competitors will not develop more effective or more affordable products or product commercialization than us and 
our corporate collaborators. 
 
If our product candidates fail to gain market acceptance, we may be unable to earn sufficient revenue to continue 
our business. If our product does not become widely accepted, it is unlikely that we will ever become profitable. 
 
Our product candidates subject us to the risk of product liability claims for which we may not be able to 
maintain or obtain adequate insurance coverage 
 
Inherent in the use of our product, is the risk of financial exposure to product liability claims and adverse publicity in 
the event that the use of such products results in personal injury or death. There can be no assurance that we will 
not experience losses due to product liability claims in the future. 
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We may encounter difficulties in manufacturing our products delaying or preventing the development or 
commercialization of our product candidates 
 
There can be no assurance that our product candidate can be manufactured at a cost or in quantities necessary to 
make them commercially competitive or even viable. We do not have any manufacturing facilities and we are 
dependent on third party contract manufacturers and/or collaborators to produce our product. There can be no 
assurance that such third party manufacturers or collaborators will be able to meet our needs with respect to timing, 
quantity, quality or pricing. If we are unable to contract for a sufficient supply of product on acceptable terms, or if 
we should encounter delays or difficulties in our relationships with manufacturers or collaborators, and/or product 
sales would be delayed, thereby delaying the submission of products for market introduction and subsequent sales 
of such products. 
 
Our success depends on the management of growth 
 
Our future growth, if any, may cause a significant strain on management, operational, financial and other resources. 
The failure of our management team to effectively manage growth could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Our success depends on our ability to protect our proprietary rights and operate without infringing the 
proprietary rights of others; 
 
Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and enforce patents and maintain trade secrets. 
 
Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and 
proprietary rights of third parties, and there can be no assurance that our products do not or will not infringe on the 
proprietary rights of others. 
 
Litigation may also be necessary to enforce technology licensed to us or to determine the scope and validity of a 
third party’s proprietary rights. We could incur substantial costs if litigation is required to defend ourselves in such 
suits. 
 
Certain of the Company's directors and officers may, from time to time, serve in similar positions with 
other public companies, which may put them in a conflict position from time to time. 
 
Certain of the Company's directors and officers may, from time to time, serve as directors or officers of other 
companies involved in similar businesses to the Company and, to the extent that such other companies may 
participate in the same ventures in which the Company may seek to participate, such directors and officers may 
have a conflict of interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. Such 
conflicts of the Company's directors and officers may result in a material and adverse effect on the Company's 
results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Should one or more of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, 
then actual results may vary materially from those described in forward-looking statements. 
  
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
 
(a) Licensing and Royalty 

 
During the 2007 year, the Company entered into a licensing and royalty memorandum of understanding with the 
initial developer of the ginseng technology that was being utilized exclusively by the Company for the production of 
products from ginseng roots.  Consideration paid by the Company to obtain the exclusive licensing for the 
technology included the transfer of all patents previously held by the Company, a cash payment of $10,000, and a 
royalty of 5% of the invoiced cost of each production run incurred by the Company. 
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(b) Office Lease 
 
On August 27, 2015, the Company signed the lease agreement with Rocky Mountain Property Management 
Company (“Rocky Mountain”) for the office lease in Vancouver, BC that started on September 1, 2015 and ends on 
August 31, 2018.  The term of the lease is 36 months with two-year option for approximately 2,000 rentable square 
feet as well as the permitted uses of the storage.  For the rental period of two years, the Company is required to 
pay the annual basic rent and the water / sewer costs.   

 
The Company is expected to make the following minimum lease payments: 

 

For the year ended 

Minimum Lease 
Payments, excluding 

GST 
   December 31, 2015 $ 11,032   
December 31, 2016  33,096 
December 31, 2017   33,096 
December 31, 2018  22,064 
   
Total minimum lease payments $ 99,288 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company paid $11,032 (2014 - $Nil) to Rocky Mountain. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management overview 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk and liquidity risk. This note 
presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. The Company employs risk management strategies 
and polices to ensure that any exposure to risk are in compliance with the Company’s business objectives and risk 
tolerance levels. While the Board has the overall responsibility for the Company’s risk management framework, the 
Company’s management has the responsibility to administer and monitor these risks. 
 
Fair values of financial instruments 
The fair value of the Company's cash, deposits and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their 
carrying value due to immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.  
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position are classified using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy 
has the following levels: 

Level 1 - reflects valuation based on quoted prices observed in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 
Level 2 -reflects valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments in active 
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; inputs other than 
quoted prices used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; and inputs that are derived 
principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. 
Level 3 - reflects valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs. 

  
A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been 
considered in measuring fair value. The financial instrument in the Company's financial statements measured at 
Level 1 fair value is cash. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails to discharge its obligations. 
Credit risk exists in cash, which is mitigated by the Company holding its cash in major Canadian banking financial 
institutions and deposits which is held by the property manager of the leased premises. 
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities as they become due. The financial liabilities on the statements of financial position consist of accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, which includes $45,000 due to related parties that is not expected to be repaid in 
the next year. The Company obtained additional financing in the current year through a third party credit facility to 
manage liquidity risk. The Company entered into a lease agreement for an office that requires monthly payments  
Management closely monitors cash flow requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet 
operational and financial obligations as they become due.  
 
Capital risk management 
The Company's objectives in managing its capital is to safeguard the Company's assets to be able to continue as a 
going concern, and to sustain future development of the business. 
Management defines capital as the Company's shareholders' deficiency. The Company manages its capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it according to economic market conditions. Management monitors the 
Company's ongoing capital requirements against unrestricted net working capital and assesses expected capital 
requirements for the fiscal period. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust 
spending, issue new shares, sell assets or incur debt. 
There have been no changes to the Company's capital management policy during the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2014 and the Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements at December 31, 2015 
and 2014. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies, judgements and estimates 
consistent with those used in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. For the additional 
information, please refer to the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 and the audited 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the IASB and International Financial Reporting 
Interpretation Committee have issued a number of new and revised standards and interpretations, which are not 
yet effective for the relevant reporting periods. The new and revised standards are applicable to the Company but 
do not materially affect the Company. For the additional information, please refer to the audited financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION OR STATEMENTS AND CAUTIONARY FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT 
FUTURE RESULTS 
 
Certain statements contained in the following MD&A constitute forward-looking statements (within the meaning of 
the Canadian securities legislation and the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that involve risks 
and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are frequently, but not always, identified by words such as “expects”, 
“anticipates”, “believes”, “intends”, “estimates”, “potential”, “possible” and similar expressions, or statements that 
events, conditions or results “will”, “may”, “could” or “should” occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements 
may include statements regarding work programs, capital expenditures, timelines, strategic plans, market price of 
commodities or other statements that are not statement of fact.  Forward-looking statements are statements about 
the future and are inherently uncertain, and actual achievements of the Company may differ materially from those 
reflected in forward-looking statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors. For the reasons set 
forth above, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Important factors that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations include uncertainties involved in disputes 
and litigation, fluctuations in currency exchange rates; uncertainty of estimates of capital and operating costs; the 
need to obtain additional financing and uncertainty as to the availability and terms of future financing; and other 
risks and uncertainties disclosed in other information released by the Company from time to time and filed with the 
appropriate regulatory agencies. 
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It is the Company’s policies that all forward-looking statements are based on the Company’s beliefs and 
assumptions which are based on information available at the time these assumptions are made.  The forward 
looking statements contained herein are as of April 26, 2016 and are subject to change after this date, and the 
Company assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise the statements to reflect new events or circumstances, 
except as may be required pursuant to applicable laws.  
 
Although management believes that the expectations represented by such forward-looking information or 
statements are reasonable, there is significant risk that the forward-looking information or statements may not be 
achieved, and the underlying assumptions thereto will not prove to be accurate. Forward-looking information or 
statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, information or statements concerning our expectations 
regarding the ability to raise additional funds and find additional value in the biotechnology assets held.  
 
Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations expressed or implied in 
any forward-looking information or statements, including the underlying assumptions thereto, as a result of 
numerous risks, uncertainties and factors including: the possibility that opportunities will arise that require more 
cash than the Company has or can reasonably obtain; dependence on key personnel; dependence on corporate 
collaborations; potential delays; uncertainties related to early stage of technology and product development; 
uncertainties as to fluctuation of the stock market; uncertainties as to future expense levels and the possibility of 
unanticipated costs or expenses or cost overruns; and other risks and uncertainties which may not be described 
herein. The Company has no policy for updating forward looking information beyond the procedures required under 
applicable securities laws. 
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STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following information regarding executive compensation is presented in accordance with National
Instrument Form 51-102F6V – Statement of Executive Compensation, and sets forth compensation for
each of Michael Frank Phillet, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company, Craig McLennan, the
former Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Company (together, the “NEOs”), and Bret Smith, a director
of the Company, as at December 31, 2014.

Director and Neo Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities

The following table sets out all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwise
provided, directly or indirectly, by the Company to each NEO and director, in any capacity, for the two
most recently completed financial years.

Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities

Name and
principal
position

Year
(1)

Salary,
consulting

fee, retainer
or

commission
($)

Bonus
($)

Committee
or meeting

fees
($)

Value of
perquisites

Pension
value

($)

Value of all other
compensation

($)

Total
compe-
nsation

($)

Michael
Frank
Phillet,
Director
and CEO

2014
2013

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

N/A
N/A

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Craig
McLennan,
Director
and CFO

2014
2013

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

N/A
N/A

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Bret Smith,
Director

2014
2013

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

N/A
N/A

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

(1) Financial year ended December 31.

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities

No compensation securities were granted or issued to any NEO or director by the Company for services
provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the Company in the most recently completed financial
year.

No NEO or director of the Company exercised compensation securities in the most recently completed
financial year.

Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans

The Company has adopted a stock option plan (the “Option Plan”) pursuant to which the Board may
grant options (the “Options”) to purchase Common Shares of the Company to NEOs, directors and
employees of the Company or affiliated corporations and to consultants retained by the Company.

The purpose of the Option Plan is to attract, retain, and motivate NEOs, directors, employees and other
service providers by providing them with the opportunity, through options, to acquire an interest in the
Company and benefit from the Company’s growth. Under the Option Plan, the maximum number of
Common Shares reserved for issuance, including Options currently outstanding, is equal to 10% of the
Shares outstanding from time to time (the “10% Maximum”). The 10% Maximum is an “evergreen”
provision, meaning that, following the exercise, termination, cancellation or expiration of any Options, a
number of Common Shares equivalent to the number of options so exercised, terminated, cancelled or
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expired would automatically become reserved and available for issuance in respect of future Option
grants.

The number of Common Shares which may be the subject of Options on a yearly basis to any one person
cannot exceed 5% of the number of issued and outstanding Shares at the time of the grant. Options may
be granted to any employee, officer, director, consultant, affiliate or subsidiary of the Company
exercisable at a price which is not less than the market price of common shares of the Company on the
date of the grant. The directors of the Company may, by resolution, determine the time period during
which any option may be exercised (the “Exercise Period”), provided that the Exercise Period does not
contravene any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the Common Shares may be listed. All
Options will terminate on the earliest to occur of (a) the expiry of their term; (b) the date of termination of
an optionee’s employment, office or position as director, if terminated for just cause; (c) 90 days (or such
other period of time as permitted by any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the Common
Shares may be listed) following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a director or NEO, if
terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s disability or death; (d) 30 days following the date of
termination of an optionee’s position as a consultant engaged in investor relations activities, if terminated
for any reason other than the optionee’s disability, death, or just cause; and (e) the date of any sale,
transfer or assignment of the Option.

Options are non-assignable and are subject to early termination in the event of the death of a participant
or in the event a participant ceases to be a NEO, director, employee, consultant, affiliate, or subsidiary of
the Company, as the case may be. Subject to the foregoing restrictions, and certain other restrictions set
out in the Option Plan, the Board is authorized to provide for the granting of Options and the exercise and
method of exercise of options granted under the Option Plan.

There are presently no Options outstanding under the Plan.

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements

Management functions of the Company are not, to any substantial degree, performed other than by
directors or NEOs of the Company. There are no agreements or arrangements that provide for
compensation to NEOs or directors of the Company, or that provide for payments to a NEO or director at,
following or in connection with any termination (whether voluntary, involuntary or constructive),
resignation, retirement, severance, a change of control in the Company or a change in the NEO or
director’s responsibilities.

Oversight and Description of Director and NEO Compensation

Compensation of Directors

Compensation of directors of the Company is reviewed annually and determined by the Board. The level
of compensation for directors is determined after consideration of various relevant factors, including the
expected nature and quantity of duties and responsibilities, past performance, comparison with
compensation paid by other issuers of comparable size and nature, and the availability of financial
resources.

In the Board’s view, there is, and has been, no need for the Company to design or implement a formal
compensation program for directors. While the Board considers Option grants to directors under the
Option Plan from time to time, the Board does not employ a prescribed methodology when determining
the grant or allocation of Options. Other than the Option Plan, as discussed above, the Company does
not offer any long term incentive plans, share compensation plans or any other such benefit programs for
directors.
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Compensation of NEOs

Compensation of NEOs is reviewed annually and determined by the Board. The level of compensation for
NEOs is determined after consideration of various relevant factors, including the expected nature and
quantity of duties and responsibilities, past performance, comparison with compensation paid by other
issuers of comparable size and nature, and the availability of financial resources. In the Board’s view,
there is, and has been, no need for the Company to design or implement a formal compensation program
for NEOs.

Elements of NEO Compensation

As discussed above, the Company provides an Option Plan to motivate NEOs by providing them with the
opportunity, through Options, to acquire an interest in the Company and benefit from the Company’s
growth. The Board does not employ a prescribed methodology when determining the grant or allocation
of Options to NEOs. Other than the Option Plan, the Company does not offer any long term incentive
plans, share compensation plans, retirement plans, pension plans, or any other such benefit programs for
NEOs.

Due to the relatively small size of the Company, limited cash resources, and the early stage and scope of
the Company’s operations, the NEOs do not currently receive annual salaries. The Board will review the
Company’s financial performance on an annual basis to determine whether salaries can be paid to the
NEOs at a later date.

Pension Disclosure

No pension, retirement or deferred compensation plans, including defined contribution plans, have been
instituted by the Company and none are proposed at this time.

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table sets out information with respect to all compensation plans under which equity
securities are authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2014:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

warrants and rights
(a)

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))

(c)

Equity compensation plans
approved by
securityholders

Nil Nil 3,343,591
(1)

Equity compensation plans
not approved by
securityholders

Nil Nil Nil

Total Nil Nil 3,343,591
(1)

(1) Represents the amount of Common Shares available for issuance under the Option Plan, which reserves a number of Common
Shares for issuance, pursuant to the exercise of Options, that is equal to 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares from
time to time.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

As of the date hereof, other than indebtedness that has been entirely repaid on or before the date of this
information circular or "routine indebtedness", as that term is defined in Form 51-102F5 of National
Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations, none of
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Shareholders
Immunall Science Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Immunall Science Inc., which
comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of
changes in shareholders' equity (deficiency) and statements of cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors'
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Immunall Science Inc. as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and
its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 2(a) to the financial statements which describes conditions and
matters that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company's ability to continue operating as a going concern. Our opinion
is not qualified in respect of this matter.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Calgary, Canada
July 31, 2015
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Immunall Science Inc.
(Incorporated under the laws of Alberta)

Statements of Financial Position

(amounts in Canadian dollars)

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Assets

Current assets
Cash $ 1,699 $ 5,849
Goods and Services Tax recoverable 1,408 1,238
Inventory (note 3(a)) - 44,754
Prepaid expenses 396 396

3,503 52,237

Equipment (notes 3(b) and 4) - 568

$ 3,503 $ 52,805

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(notes 5 and 7) $ 83,684 $ 57,763

Shareholders' Deficiency

Share capital (note 6) 747,769 747,769

Contributed surplus 422,248 422,248

Deficit (1,250,198) (1,174,975)

(80,181) (4,958)

$ 3,503 $ 52,805

Going concern (note 2(a))
Commitment (note 9)
Subsequent event (note 11)

See accompanying notes.

Approved by the Board,

(signed) "M. Frank Phillet"                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                , Director

(signed) "Craig McLennon"                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                , Director
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Immunall Science Inc.
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss

Years Ended December 31
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

2014 2013

Expenses
Advertising and promotion $ - $ 402
Bank charges 305 193
Office 501 1,520
Professional fees 16,693 16,647
Regulatory 12,402 14,998
Amortization 255 255

Loss before the following 30,156 34,015

Write-down of inventory (note 3(a)) 44,754 -
Write-down of property and equipment (note 4) 313 -

45,067 -

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ 75,223 $ 34,015

Basic and diluted loss per share (note 6(e)) $ 0.002 $ 0.001

See accompanying notes.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity (Deficiency)

(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Number of
common
shares

Common
shares at

stated
value

Contributed
surplus Deficit

Total equity
(deficiency)

Balance at December 31, 2012 42,265,842 $ 945,248 $ 224,769 $ (1,140,960) $ 29,057

Loss for the period - - - (34,015) (34,015)

Shares cancelled (note 6(c)) (8,830,080) (197,479) 197,479 - -

Balance at December 31, 2013 33,435,762 747,769 422,248 (1,174,975) (4,958)

Loss for the period - - - (75,223) (75,223)

Balance at December 31, 2014 33,435,762 $ 747,769 $ 422,248 $ (1,250,198) $ (80,181)

See accompanying notes.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

2014 2013

Operating activities
Net loss $ (75,223) $ (34,015)
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 255 255
Write-down of property and equipment 313 -
Write-down of inventory 44,754 -

(29,901) (33,760)

Changes in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable - 475
Good and Services Tax recoverable/payable (170) 1,289
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 25,921 3,355

25,751 5,119

Cash outflow (4,150) (28,641)

Cash, beginning of year 5,849 34,490

Cash, end of year $ 1,699 $ 5,849

See accompanying notes.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of operations

Immunall Science Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations
Act (Alberta) on November 22, 2005. The Company was a research company engaged in
the business of developing and commercializing technology related to the growth and
extraction of active ingredients from American Ginseng.  During 2014, the Company ceased
its ginseng operations and is currently inactive (note 2(a)).

The address and principal place of business of the Company is 10979 - 127th Street,
Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, T5M 0T1.

2. Basis of presentation

(a) Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which
contemplates the realization of assets and the payment of liabilities in the ordinary
course of business. Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, it
may be unable to realize the carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as
they become due. The Company is in the development stage and there is a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as
a going concern. As of December 31, 2014, the Company has earned limited revenues
from operations and has a deficit of $1,250,198 (2013 - $1,174,975). Accounts payable
includes $45,000 owing to directors that will not be repaid until sufficient cash flow is
available. Remaining inventory has been determined by management to have a net
realizable value of $NIL at December 31, 2014 and a write-down of $44,754 has been
recorded in the year (2013 - $NIL), due to current market conditions and future plans
of the Company (note 3(a)).  Management is currently investigating a range of
strategic options available with a view to generating income sufficient to pay its
liabilities and ongoing operating expenses, and maximizing shareholder value.
Subsequent to year-end, the Company entered into a credit agreement with a third
party (note 11).  The Company may be required to obtain additional debt or equity
financing or curtail spending in the future to fund operations and settle obligations.

These statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going
concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern assumption were not
appropriate for these financial statements, then adjustments, which could be material,
would be necessary to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported
expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used.

(b) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors ("the
Board") on July 31, 2015.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

(c) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
held-for-trading financial assets that are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recorded in earnings. See note 10(b) for the methods used to measure fair
values.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s
functional currency.

(e) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual
results. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The following discussion sets forth management’s most critical estimates and
assumptions in determining the value of assets, liabilities and equity:

Valuation of inventory

The valuation of inventory is based on management's best estimate of the net
realizable value of slow moving or obsolete inventory. Allowances are made against
obsolete or damaged inventories and charged to cost of sales.  The reversal of any
write-down of inventory arising from an increase in net realizable value is recognized
as a reduction in cost of sales in the period in which the reversal occurred.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is based on estimates as to the timing of the reversal of
temporary differences, tax rates currently substantively enacted and the determination
of the valuation allowance.  The valuation allowance is based on estimates of the
probability of the Company utilizing certain tax pools and losses in future periods.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Inventory

Inventory consists of raw materials and processed product and is valued at the lower
of cost and net realizable value, cost being determined on a specific identification
basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs necessary to make the sale. When the applicable cost
of the inventories exceeds the net realizable value, inventory is written down to the net
realizable value. Write-downs are subsequently reversed up to the original cost if the
net realizable value exceeds the carrying amount.

The amount of inventory recognized as an expense during the year ended December
31, 2014 was $44,754 (2013 - $NIL) related to a write-down of inventory to its net
realizable value.  This value was determined to be $NIL at December 31, 2014 based
on future plans of management and current market conditions.  No other inventory was
recognized as an expense during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

(b) Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when
replaced. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the statement of income
during the period in which they are incurred.

Amortization of equipment is provided using the straight-line method at the following
rates approximating their estimated useful lives:

Furniture 10 years

(c) Impairment

The carrying value of long-term assets is reviewed annually for indicators that the
carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit may not be recoverable. If indicators
of impairment exist, the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated. If the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating unit exceeds the
recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is written down with an
impairment recognized in net income.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Fair value is determined to be the
amount for which the asset could be sold for in an arm’s length transaction. Value in
use is determined by estimating the present value of the future net cash flows to be
derived from the continued use of the asset or cash generating unit in its present form.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Reversals of impairments are recognized when there are indicators that an impairment
loss recognized in prior periods may no longer exist, or may have decreased. In this
event, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to its
revised recoverable amount with an impairment reversal recognized in net earnings.
The revised recoverable amount is limited to the original carrying amount less
amortization as if no impairment had been recognized for the asset or cash-generating
unit for prior periods. 

(d) Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the product is shipped and there is
reasonable assurance of collection.

(e) Income taxes  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized
directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date, plus
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the liability method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary
differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities
will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

(f) Stock-based compensation

The Company has a stock based compensation plan, which is described in (note 6(d)).
The fair value of the stock options is measured at the grant date and recognized as
share-based compensation expense, with a corresponding increase in contributed
surplus over the vesting period. The fair value of the stock is measured using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the stock options were granted. The Company measures stock-based
compensation to non-employees at the fair value of the goods or services received. If
the fair value of the goods or services cannot be measured reliably, the value of the
options is used, measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. A forfeiture
rate is estimated on the grant date and is adjusted to reflect the actual number of stock
options that will ultimately vest. When stock options are exercised, the amount
previously recorded as share-based compensation is recorded as share capital.

(g) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized by the Company when it has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of that obligation. Provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation. The obligation is not recorded and is
disclosed as a contingent liability if it is not probable that an outflow will be required, if
the amount cannot be estimated reliably or if the existence of the outflow can only be
confirmed by the occurrence of a future event.

(h) Financial instruments 

(i) Classification and measurement

Financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition of the
instrument. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the
financial instrument has been classified as "fair value through the statement of
income", "loans and receivables", "available-for-sale", "held-to-maturity", or
"financial liabilities measured at amortized cost" as defined by IAS 39,
"Financial Instruments:  Recognition and Measurement".

Financial assets and financial liabilities at "fair value through the statement of
income" are either classified as "held for trading" or "designated at fair value
through the statement of income" and are measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognized in the income statement. Transaction costs are
expensed when incurred. The Company has designated cash as "held for
trading".
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as "loans and receivables",
"held-to-maturity", or "financial liabilities measured at amortized cost" are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization.
"Loans and receivables" are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. "Held-to-
maturity" financial assets are non-derivative investments that an entity has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. "Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost" are those financial liabilities that are not designated as "fair
value through the statement of income" and that are not derivatives. The
Company does not have any financial assets designated as "loans and
receivables" or "held to maturity".

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as "financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost".

Financial assets classified as "available-for-sale" are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income.
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. The
Company has no available-for-sale financial assets.

(ii) Equity instruments

The Company's common shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of common shares and stock options are
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(iii) Impairment

The Company assesses at each statement of financial position date whether
there is objective evidence that financial assets, other than those designated as
"fair value through the statement of income" are impaired. When impairment
has occurred, the cumulative loss is recognized in the statement of income.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment
loss recognized is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate. When an available-for-sale financial asset is
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of loss in the
period.  Impairment losses may be reversed in subsequent periods.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

(i) Net loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income per share reflects the potential
dilution that would occur if in-the-money stock options were exercised. The Company
uses the treasury stock method for outstanding stock options which assumes that all
outstanding stock options with exercise prices below average market prices are
exercised and assumed proceeds plus the unamortized portion of stock-based
compensation are used to purchase the Company's common shares at the  average
market price during the period.

(j) Recent accounting pronouncements

The Company has adopted the following new standards and amendments which
became effective on or after January 1, 2014:

 IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 21 "Levies" which provides guidance

on accounting for levies in accordance with the requirements of lAS 37,

"Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets". The interpretation

clarifies that an entity is to recognize a liability for a levy when the activity that

triggers the payment occurs. The interpretation also clarifies that a levy liability

is to be accrued progressively only if the activity that triggers payment occurs

over a period of time, in accordance with the relevant legislation. The adoption

of this interpretation did not have a significant impact on the Company's

financial statements.

 lAS 36 (amended), "Impairment of Assets". The amendments reduce the

circumstances in which the recoverable amount of cash generating units,

"CGUs", is required to be disclosed and clarifies the disclosures required when

an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed in the period. The

adoption of this amendment did not have a significant impact on the Company’s

financial statements.

 The Company adopted several narrow-scope amendments to a total of nine

standards issued by IASB in December 2013. The adoption of these

amendments had no impact on the financial statements. 

 IFRS 12, "Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities", combines the disclosure

requirements for entities that have interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,

and associates as well as unconsolidated structured entities. The adoption of

this standard had no impact on the Company's financial statements.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

In addition to the adoption of the standards as detailed above, the Company will be
required to adopt each of the following new standards in future years:

 IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments"

IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" provides a comprehensive new standard for
accounting for all aspects of financial instruments. It includes a logical model
for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking 'expected-loss'
impairment model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting.
The new standard is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Company has not determined the impact of the new standard on its
financial statements.

 IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers"

IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" provides a comprehensive
new standard for recognition, measurement and disclosure of revenue from
contracts with customers, excluding contracts within the scope of the standards
on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments.  It specifies how and
when to recognize revenue as well as requiring entities to provide more
informative and relevant disclosure.  The new standard is effective for years
beginning on or after January 1, 2017.  The Company has not determined the
impact of the new standard on its financial statements.

4. Equipment

Equipment consists of furniture.

Total

Cost at December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 $ 2,550

Accumulated amortization - December 31, 2012 $ 1,727
Amortization expense 255
Accumulated amortization - December 31, 2013 1,982
Amortization expense 255
Writedown (note 3(b)) 313

Accumulated amortization - December 31, 2014 $ 2,550

Net book value

December 31, 2013 $ 568

December 31, 2014 $ -

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company wrote-off equipment of $313 (2013
- $NIL).  Due to future plans for the Company by management of ceasing ginseng
operations and management's estimate that no market exists to purchase ginseng powder, it
was no longer probable that future economic benefits associated with the equipment would
flow to the Company.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2014 2013

Trade payables $ 15,237 $ 450
Other payables and accrued liabilities (note 7) 68,447 57,313

$ 83,684 $ 57,763

6. Share capital

(a) Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares

20,000,000 preferred shares, issuable in
one or more series

20,000,000 redeemable preferred shares,
issuable in one or more series

(b) Number Stated value

Issued:  Common shares

Balance, December 31, 2012 42,265,842 $ 945,248
Shares cancelled 6 (8,830,080) (197,479)

Balance, December 31, 2014 and 2013 33,435,762 $ 747,769

(c) On January 11, 2011, the Company issued a joint management information circular
and proxy statement relating to the amalgamation of the Company with Altius Edge
Ltd.  The amalgamation was completed on March 31, 2011, at which point holders of
certificates formerly representing Immunall shares had two years to surrender those
certificates in exchange for new Immunall share certificates, representing common
share ownership of the Company.  At March 31, 2013, 8,830,080 certificates formerly
representing Immunall shares had not been surrendered and exchanged, resulting in
the cancellation of the associated common shares of the Company.

(d) Stock options

The Company has a stock option plan pursuant to which the Board of the Company
may grant options to purchase common shares to the officers, directors and
employees of the Company or affiliated companies and to consultants retained by the
Company.

The aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance under the stock
option plan is set at a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares outstanding at
the time the options are granted.  Furthermore, the aggregate number of shares
issuable to one individual may not exceed 5% of the total number of issued and
outstanding common shares of the Company.  The exercise price of all options issued
under the stock option plan may not be less than the closing market price on the last
business day prior to the date the option was granted.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

A summary of the status of the Company's stock options as at December 31, 2014 and
2013 and changes during the periods then ended are as follows:

Number of
options

Weighted
average

exercise price

Outstanding, December 31, 2012 500,000 $ 0.10

Expired - 2013 (500,000) $ 0.10

Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2014 and
2013 -

No options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

(e) Loss per share

Loss per share is calculated based on the basic and diluted weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2014 of
33,435,762 (2013 - 35,661,426). The effect of all potential dilutive items have been
excluded from the diluted calculation for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 as the Company incurred losses during the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the effect would be anti-dilutive.

7. Related party transactions

(a) The Company has not entered into transactions with related parties during 2014 or
2013, however $45,000 in accounts payable remains outstanding relating to
consulting fees charged by corporations owned by management and directors in prior
periods.

Amounts included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due under normal
credit terms.

(b) The Company has not paid any compensation to executives, directors or employees
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

8. Income taxes

(a) The components of the Company's deferred tax asset and associated movement are
as follows:

December 31,
2013

Recognized
in Loss

December 31,
2014

Cumulative eligible capital $ 172,097 $ 881 $ 172,978
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 352,323 27,214 379,537
Other 96 210 306
Valuation allowance (524,516) (28,305) (552,821)

$ - $ - $ -

December 31,
2012

Recognized
in Loss

December 31,
2013

Cumulative eligible capital $ 185,051 $ (12,954) $ 172,097
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 330,908 21,415 352,323
Other 104 (8) 96
Valuation allowance (516,063) (8,453) (524,516)

$ - $ - $ -

(b) Income tax recovery differs from that which would be expected from applying the
approximate combined effective Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates of
25% (2013 - 25%) to loss before income taxes as follows:

2014 2013

Loss before income taxes $ (75,223) $ (34,015)

Expected income tax recovery (18,806) (8,504)
Expiry of non-capital loss carryforwards 7,767 -
Other - 51
Deferred income tax benefit not recognized 11,039 8,453

$ - $ -
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

(c) The Company has available the following non-capital loss carryforwards for which no
benefit has been recognized in the financial statements:

Amount Year of Expiry

$ 81,192 2015
270,129 2026
302,300 2027
175,433 2028
265,794 2029
80,537 2030
17,965 2031

107,630 2032
90,057 2033

127,109 2034

$ 1,518,146

In addition, the Company has $691,913 of cumulative eligible capital for which no benefit has
been recognized in the financial statements.

9. Commitment

The Company has a licensing and royalty memorandum of understanding with the initial
developer of the technology that is being utilized exclusively by the Company for the
production of products from ginseng roots. As part of the memorandum of understanding,
the Company is required to pay a royalty of 5% of the invoiced cost of each production run
incurred by the Company.

10. Financial instruments and risk management

(a) Risk management overview

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk
and liquidity risk. This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to
each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. Further
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. The
Company employs risk management strategies and polices to ensure that any
exposure to risk are in compliance with the Company’s business objectives and risk
tolerance levels. While the Board has the overall responsibility for the Company’s risk
management framework, the Company’s management has the responsibility to
administer and monitor these risks.

(b) Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of the Company's cash and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate their carrying value due to immediate or short-term maturity of these
financial instruments.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position are
classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 - reflects valuation based on quoted prices observed in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - reflects valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of
similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted
prices used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument;
and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 - reflects valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs.

A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a
significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. The financial instrument
in the Company's financial statements measured at Level 1 fair value is cash.

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails to
discharge its obligations.

Credit risk exists in cash, which is mitigated by the Company holding its cash in major
Canadian banking financial institutions.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities as they become due. The financial liabilities on the
statements of financial position consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
which includes $45,000 due to related parties (note 7) that is not expected to be repaid
in the next year. Management closely monitors cash flow requirements to ensure that it
has sufficient cash on demand to meet operational and financial obligations as they
become due.

(e) Capital risk management

The Company's objectives in managing its capital is to safeguard the Company's
assets to be able to continue as a going concern, and to sustain future development of
the business.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2014 and 2013
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Management defines capital as the Company's shareholders' equity (deficiency). The
Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to
economic market conditions. Management monitors the Company's ongoing capital
requirements against unrestricted net working capital and assesses expected capital
requirements for the fiscal period. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Company may adjust spending, issue new shares, sell assets or incur debt.

There have been no changes to the Company's capital management policy during the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

11. Subsequent event

The Company signed an agreement effective July 8, 2015, with a third party to advance
funds to the Company to a maximum of $50,000 to cover operating costs.  This facility will
bear interest at 10% per annum, compounded monthly and will accrue daily.  All amounts
are repayable on demand, subsequent to January 8, 2016.  As at July 31, 2015, $41,625
was advanced to the Company.
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Shareholders
Immunall Science Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Immunall Science Inc., which
comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and December 31,
2014, and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of changes in
shareholders' deficiency and statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors'
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Immunall Science Inc. as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and
its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 2(a) to the financial statements which describes conditions and
matters that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company's ability to continue operating as a going concern. Our opinion
is not qualified in respect of this matter.

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Calgary, Canada
April 20, 2016
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Immunall Science Inc.
(Incorporated under the laws of Alberta)

Statements of Financial Position

(amounts in Canadian dollars)

December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

Assets

Current assets
Cash $ 1,721 $ 1,699
Goods and Services Tax recoverable 4,481 1,408
Prepaid expenses and deposits 8,293 396

14,495 3,503
Property and equipment (note 4) 2,844 -

$ 17,339 $ 3,503

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(notes 5 and 8) $ 129,871 $ 83,684
Loan payable (note 6) 51,805 -

181,676 83,684

Shareholders' Deficiency

Share capital (note 7) 747,769 747,769
Contributed surplus 422,248 422,248
Deficit (1,334,354) (1,250,198)

(164,337) (80,181)

$ 17,339 $ 3,503

Going concern (note 2(a))
Commitments (note 10)
Subsequent events (notes 1, 2)

See accompanying notes.

Approved by the Board,

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                , Director

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                , Director
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Immunall Science Inc.
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss

Years Ended December 31
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

2015 2014

Expenses
Bank charges $ 582 $ 305
Interest on loan payable 2,197 -
Office 2,269 501
Professional fees 46,039 16,693
Regulatory 21,287 12,402
Rent 9,400 -
Travel 2,026 -
Amortization 356 255

Loss before the following 84,156 30,156

Write-down of inventory - 44,754
Write-down of property and equipment (note 4) - 313

- 45,067

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ 84,156 $ 75,223

Basic and diluted loss per share (note 7(d)) $ 0.003 $ 0.002

See accompanying notes.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Deficiency

Years Ended December 31, 2015
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Number of
common
shares

Common
shares at

stated
value

Contributed
surplus Deficit

Total
deficiency

Balance at December 31, 2013 33,435,762 $ 747,769 $ 422,248 $ (1,174,975) $ (4,958)

Loss for the year - - - (75,223) (75,223)

Balance at December 31, 2014 33,435,762 747,769 422,248 (1,250,198) (80,181)

Loss for the year - - - (84,156) (84,156)

Balance at December 31, 2015 33,435,762 $ 747,769 $ 422,248 $ (1,334,354) $ (164,337)

See accompanying notes.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

2015 2014

Operating activities
Net loss $ (84,156) $ (75,223)
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 356 255
Write-down of property and equipment - 313
Write-down of inventory - 44,754

(83,800) (29,901)

Changes in non-cash working capital
Goods and Services Tax recoverable (3,073) (170)
Prepaid expenses (7,897) -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 46,187 25,921

35,217 25,751

Investing activities
Expenditures on leasehold improvements (3,200) -

Financing activities
Advances from loan payable 51,805 -

Cash inflow (outflow) 22 (4,150)

Cash, beginning of year 1,699 5,849

Cash, end of year $ 1,721 $ 1,699

Cash is comprised of:
Cash (bank indebtedness) $ (4) $ 1,699
Funds held in trust 1,725 -

$ 1,721 $ 1,699

Interest paid $ - $ -

See accompanying notes.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of operations

Immunall Science Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business
Corporations Act (Alberta) on November 22, 2005. The Company was a research
company engaged in the business of developing and commercialising technology related
to the growth and extraction of active ingredients from American Ginseng.  During 2014,
the Company ceased its ginseng operations and is currently inactive (note 2(a)). 

The address and principal place of business of the Company is 10979 - 127th Street,
Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, T5M 0T1.

The Company is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CNSX”) under the symbol
“GNS”.  On May 8, 2015, the CNSX suspended the Company’s shares from trading on
the CNSX as a result of a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia Securities
Commission (“BCSC”) due to the Company’s failure to file its audited financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2014, as required under Part 4 of National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations (“NI 51-102”), and a Form 51-102F1
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MDA”) for the year ended December 31, 2014,
as required under Part 5 of NI 51-102, within the mandatory timeline. The Company has
complied with all the requirements subsequent to the December 31, 2015 year end and
the cease trade order has been lifted. 

2. Basis of presentation

(a) Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which
contemplates the realization of assets and the payment of liabilities in the ordinary
course of business. Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern,
it may be unable to realize the carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities
as they become due. The Company is currently inactive and there is a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue
as a going concern. As at and for the year ended December 31, 2015, the
Company has earned no revenues from operations and has a deficit of $1,334,354
(2014 - $1,250,198). During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company
entered into a credit agreement with a third party, however the debt was not repaid
on the maturity date of January 31, 2016. The creditor has not demanded
repayment of the debt as of April 20, 2016. Accounts payable includes $45,000
owing to management that will not be repaid until sufficient cash flow is available.
Management is currently investigating a range of strategic options available with a
view to generating income sufficient to pay its liabilities and ongoing operating
expenses, and maximizing shareholder value. The Company may be required to
obtain additional debt or equity financing or curtail spending in the future to fund
operations and settle obligations.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

These statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going
concern assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern assumption were
not appropriate for these financial statements, then adjustments, which could be
material, would be necessary to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the
reported expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used.

(b) Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) for the year ended December 31,
2015.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors ("the
Board") on April 20, 2016.

(c) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
held-for-trading financial assets that are measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recorded in earnings. See note 11(b) for the methods used to measure fair
values.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the
Company’s functional currency.

(e) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual
results. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

The following discussion sets forth management’s most critical estimates and
assumptions in determining the value of assets, liabilities and equity:

Going concern

Determining if the Company has the ability to continue as a going concern is
dependant on its ability to raise additional financing and to achieve profitable
operations, and on the continuing support from its lender. Certain judgments are
made when determining if the Company will continue as a going concern. Further
disclosure is included in note 2(a).

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is based on estimates as to the timing of the reversal of
temporary differences, tax rates currently substantively enacted and the
determination of the valuation allowance.  The valuation allowance is based on
estimates of the probability of the Company utilizing certain tax pools and losses in
future periods.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a
replaced asset is derecognized when replaced. Repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to the statement of income during the period in which they are incurred.

Amortization of property and equipment is provided using the straight-line method at
the following rates approximating their estimated useful lives:

Equipment 10 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

(b) Impairment

The carrying value of long-term assets is reviewed annually for indicators that the
carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit may not be recoverable. If
indicators of impairment exist, the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated. If the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating
unit exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is written
down with an impairment recognized in net loss.
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Immunall Science Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Fair value is determined to be the
amount for which the asset could be sold for in an arm’s length transaction. Value in
use is determined by estimating the present value of the future net cash flows to be
derived from the continued use of the asset or cash generating unit in its present
form.

Reversals of impairments are recognized when there are indicators that an
impairment loss recognized in prior periods may no longer exist, or may have
decreased. In this event, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to its revised recoverable amount with an impairment reversal recognized
in net earnings. The revised recoverable amount is limited to the original carrying
amount less amortization as if no impairment had been recognized for the asset or
cash-generating unit for prior periods. 

(c) Income taxes  

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized
directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position
date, plus any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the liability method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is
a legally enforceable right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets
and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

(d) Stock-based compensation

The Company has a stock based compensation plan, which is described in
(note 7(c)).  The fair value of the stock options is measured at the grant date and
recognized as share-based compensation expense, with a corresponding increase
in contributed surplus over the vesting period. The fair value of the stock is
measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the stock options were granted. The Company
measures stock-based compensation to non-employees at the fair value of the
goods or services received. If the fair value of the goods or services cannot be
measured reliably, the value of the options is used, measured using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. A forfeiture rate is estimated on the grant date and is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of stock options that will ultimately vest. When
stock options are exercised, the amount previously recorded as share-based
compensation is recorded as share capital.

(e) Financial instruments 

(i) Classification and measurement

Financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition of the
instrument. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the
financial instrument has been classified as "fair value through the statement
of income", "loans and receivables", "available-for-sale", "held-to-maturity",
or "financial liabilities measured at amortized cost" as defined by IAS 39,
"Financial Instruments:  Recognition and Measurement".

Financial assets and financial liabilities at "fair value through the statement
of income" are either classified as "held for trading" or "designated at fair
value through the statement of income" and are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in the income statement. Transaction costs
are expensed when incurred. The Company has designated cash as "held
for trading".

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as "loans and receivables",
"held-to-maturity", or "financial liabilities measured at amortized cost" are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method of
amortization.  "Loans and receivables" are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
"Held-to-maturity" financial assets are non-derivative investments that an
entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. "Financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost" are those financial liabilities that are
not designated as "fair value through the statement of income" and that are
not derivatives. The Company has no financial assets designated as "loans
and receivables" or as "held to maturity".
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Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and loan payable are classified as
"financial liabilities measured at amortized cost".

Financial assets classified as "available-for-sale" are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income.
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
The Company has no available-for-sale financial assets.

(ii) Equity instruments

The Company's common shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of common shares and stock options are
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(iii) Impairment

The Company assesses at each statement of financial position date whether
there is objective evidence that financial assets, other than those designated
as "fair value through the statement of income" are impaired. When
impairment has occurred, the cumulative loss is recognized in the statement
of income.  For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognized is the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the financial asset's original effective interest rate. When an available-for-
sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses
previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the
statement of loss in the period.  Impairment losses may be reversed in
subsequent periods.

(f) Net loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income per share reflects the potential
dilution that would occur if in-the-money stock options were exercised. The
Company uses the treasury stock method for outstanding stock options which
assumes that all outstanding stock options with exercise prices below average
market prices are exercised and assumed proceeds plus the unamortized portion of
stock-based compensation are used to purchase the Company's common shares at
the  average market price during the period.
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December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

(g) Recent accounting pronouncements

The Company will be required to adopt each of the following new standards in
future years:

 IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments"

IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" provides a comprehensive new standard for
accounting for all aspects of financial instruments. It includes a logical model
for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking 'expected-loss'
impairment model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge
accounting. The new standard is effective for years beginning on or after
January 1, 2018. The Company has not determined the impact of the new
standard on its financial statements.

 IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers"

IFRS 15, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" provides a
comprehensive new standard for recognition, measurement and disclosure
of revenue from contracts with customers, excluding contracts within the
scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial
instruments.  It specifies how and when to recognize revenue as well as
requiring entities to provide more informative and relevant disclosure.  The
new standard is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Company has not determined the impact of the new standard on its
financial statements.

 IFRS 16, "Leases"

The IASB has developed a new standard, IFRS 16 "Leases", which
supersedes IAS 17 "Leases". The IASB worked jointly with the FASB on this
project. IFRS 16 sets out principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both copies to a contract, i.e. the
customer ('lessee') and the supplier ('lessor'). Lessee accounting will change
substantially under this new standard while there is little change for the
lessor. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating
leases or financing leases and, instead, introduces a single lessee
accounting model. A lessee will be required to recognize assets and
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months (unless the
underlying asset is of low value) and will be required to present depreciation
of leases assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income
statement. A lessor will continue to classify its leases as operating leases or
financing leases, and to account for those two types of leases separately.
The new standard is effective for years beginning on or after January 1,
2019. The Company has not determined the impact of the new standard on
its financial statements.
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December 31, 2015 and 2014
(amounts in Canadian dollars)

4. Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of:

Equipment
Leasehold

improvements Total

Cost at December 31, 2013 and 2014 $ 2,550 $ - $ 2,550
Additions - 3,200 3,200

Cost at December 31, 2015 $ 2,550 $ 3,200 $ 5,750

Accumulated amortization - December 31,
2013 $ 1,982 $ - $ 1,982

Amortization expense 255 - 255
Writedown 313 - 313
Accumulated amortization - December 31,

2014 2,550 - 2,550
Amortization expense - 356 356

Accumulated amortization - December 31,
2015 $ 2,550 $ 356 $ 2,906

Net book value

December 31, 2014 $ - $ - $ -

December 31, 2015 $ - $ 2,844 $ 2,844

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company wrote-off equipment of $313.
As a result of management ceasing to pursue ginseng sales, ginseng operations, it was
no longer probable that future economic benefits associated with the equipment would
flow to the Company.

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2015 2014

Trade payables $ 50,377 $ 15,237
Interest payable (note 6) 2,197 -
Other payables and accrued liabilities (note 8(a)) 77,297 68,447

$ 129,871 $ 83,684
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December 31, 2015 and 2014
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6. Loan payable

On July 8, 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party to advance
funds to the Company for a maximum amount of $100,000 to cover operating costs. The
loan bears interest at 10% per annum, compounded monthly. All amounts are repayable
on demand on or before January 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2015,
$51,805 was advanced to the Company and interest of $2,197 was accrued on the
balance owing and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Company
did not make the required principal and interest payment on January 31, 2016, and as a
result is in breach of the loan agreement. The lender has not demanded payment as of
April 20, 2016.

7. Share capital

(a) Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares

20,000,000 preferred shares, issuable in
one or more series

20,000,000 redeemable preferred
shares, issuable in one or
more series

(b) Issued Number Stated value
Common shares

Balance, December 31, 2015 and 2014 33,435,762 $ 747,769

(c) Stock options

The Company has a stock option plan pursuant to which the Board of the Company
may grant options to purchase common shares to the officers, directors and
employees of the Company or affiliated companies and to consultants retained by
the Company.

The aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance under the stock
option plan is set at a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares outstanding at
the time the options are granted.  Furthermore, the aggregate number of shares
issuable to one individual may not exceed 5% of the total number of issued and
outstanding common shares of the Company.  The exercise price of all options
issued under the stock option plan may not be less than the closing market price on
the last business day prior to the date the option was granted.

No options were granted or outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014.
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(d) Loss per share

Loss per share is calculated based on the basic and diluted weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2015
of 33,435,762 (2014 - 33,435,762).

8. Related party transactions

(a) The Company has not entered into transactions with related parties during 2015 or
2014, however $45,000 in accounts payable remains outstanding relating to
consulting fees charged by corporations owned by management and directors in
prior periods.

Amounts included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due under
normal credit terms.

(b) The Company has not paid any compensation to executives, directors or
employees during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

9. Income taxes

(a) The components of the Company's deferred tax asset and associated movement
are as follows:

December 31,
2014

Recognized in
Loss

December 31,
2015

Cumulative eligible capital $ 172,978 $ 762 $ 173,740
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 379,537 44,317 423,854
Property and equipment 306 (383) (77)

Valuation allowance (552,821) (44,696) (597,517)

$ - $ - $ -

December 31,
2013

Recognized in
Loss

December 31,
2014

Cumulative eligible capital $ 172,097 $ 881 $ 172,978
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 352,323 27,214 379,537
Property and equipment 96 210 306

Valuation allowance (524,516) (28,305) (552,821)

$ - $ - $ -
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(b) Income tax recovery differs from that which would be expected from applying the
approximate combined effective Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates
of 27% (2014 - 25%) to loss before income taxes as follows:

2015 2014

Loss before income taxes $ (84,156) $ (75,223)

Expected income tax recovery (22,722) (18,806)
Expiry of non-capital loss carryforwards (21,922) (6,957)
Other (52) (2,542)
Deferred income tax benefit not recognized 44,696 28,305

$ - $ -

(c) The Company has available the following non-capital loss carryforwards for which
no benefit has been recognized in the financial statements:

Amount Year of Expiry

$ 270,129 2026
302,300 2027
175,433 2028
265,794 2029
80,537 2030
17,965 2031

107,630 2032
90,057 2033

127,109 2034
132,874 2035

$ 1,569,828

In addition, the Company has $643,480 of cumulative eligible capital for which no benefit
has been recognized in the financial statements.

10. Commitments

(a) The Company has a licensing and royalty memorandum of understanding with the
initial developer of the technology that is being utilized exclusively by the Company
for the production of products from ginseng roots. As part of the memorandum of
understanding, the Company is required to pay a royalty of 5% of the invoiced cost
of each production run incurred by the Company.

(b) On August 27, 2015, the Company signed a lease agreement for an office in
Vancouver, BC that commenced  on September 1, 2015 and ends on August 31,
2018. The term of the lease is 36 months with two-year option to extend.
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The Company is expected to make the following minimum lease payments
exclusive of occupancy costs as follows:

2016 $ 33,096
2017 33,096
2018 22,064

$ 88,256

11. Financial instruments and risk management

(a) Risk management overview

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk
and liquidity risk. This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to
each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. Further
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. The
Company employs risk management strategies and polices to ensure that any
exposure to risk are in compliance with the Company’s business objectives and risk
tolerance levels. While the Board has the overall responsibility for the Company’s
risk management framework, the Company’s management has the responsibility to
administer and monitor these risks.

(b) Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of the Company's cash, deposits and accounts payable and accrued
liabilities approximate their carrying value due to immediate or short-term maturity
of these financial instruments. 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position
are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following
levels:

Level 1 - reflects valuation based on quoted prices observed in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - reflects valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of
similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active; inputs other than
quoted prices used in a valuation model that are observable for that
instrument; and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated
by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 - reflects valuation techniques with significant unobservable market
inputs.
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A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a
significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. The financial
instrument in the Company's financial statements measured at Level 1 fair value is
cash.

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails to
discharge its obligations.

Credit risk exists in cash, which is mitigated by the Company holding its cash in
major Canadian banking financial institutions and deposits which is held by the
property manager of the leased premises.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations associated with financial liabilities as they become due. The financial
liabilities on the statements of financial position consist of accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, which includes $45,000 due to related parties (note 8) that is not
expected to be repaid in the next year. The Company obtained additional financing
in the current year through a third party credit facility to manage liquidity risk
(note 6). The Company entered into a lease agreement for an office that requires
monthly payments (note 10(b)) Management closely monitors cash flow
requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet operational
and financial obligations as they become due. 

(e) Capital risk management

The Company's objectives in managing its capital is to safeguard the Company's
assets to be able to continue as a going concern, and to sustain future development
of the business.

Management defines capital as the Company's shareholders' deficiency. The
Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to
economic market conditions. Management monitors the Company's ongoing capital
requirements against unrestricted net working capital and assesses expected
capital requirements for the fiscal period. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may adjust spending, issue new shares, sell assets or incur
debt.

There have been no changes to the Company's capital management policy during
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements at December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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12. Subsequent events

(a) The shareholders at the annual general meeting held on March 29, 2016 approved
consolidation of the number of common shares outstanding. As a result of the
consolidation, every 33 common shares  will be consolidated to one common share.
This transaction is pending approval of the shareholders and the BCSC.

(b) Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, further loan advances in the
amount of $6,980 were made to the Company under the loan agreement (note 6).
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NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Under National Instrument 51-102, continuous disclosure obligations, if an auditor has not performed a 
review of the interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the 
financial statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. The Company’s independent auditor has not 
performed a review of these financial statements in accordance with standards established by the 
Chartered Professional Accountants for a review of interim financial statements by an entity’s auditor. 

The accompanying unaudited condensed interim financial statements of Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc. 
(Formerly: Immunall Science Inc.). for the nine months period ended September 30, 2016 have been 
prepared by the management of the Company and approved by the Company’s Audit Committee and the 
Company’s Board of Directors. 

The accompanying unaudited condensed interim financial statements of the Company have been prepared 
by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

AREV NUTRITION SCIENCES INC.  
(FORMERLY: IMMUNALL SCIENCE INC.) 
 

September 30, 2016 
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements of Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc. (Formerly: 
Immunall Science Inc.). (the "Company") are the responsibility of management. 
 
The unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared by management, on behalf of 
the Board of Directors, in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in the notes to the unaudited 
interim financial statements. Where necessary, management has made informed judgments and estimates 
in accounting for transactions which were not complete at the financial position date. In the opinion of 
management, the unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared within acceptable 
limits of materiality and are in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial 
Reporting using accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards 
appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
Management has established processes, which are in place to provide it sufficient knowledge to support 
management representations that it has exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the unaudited condensed 
interim financial statements do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material 
fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the 
circumstances under which it is made, as of the date of, and for the periods presented by, the unaudited 
condensed interim financial statements and (ii) the unaudited condensed interim financial statements fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, 
as of the date of and for the periods presented by the unaudited condensed interim financial statements. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the unaudited condensed interim 
financial statements together with other financial information of the Company and for ensuring that 
management fulfills its financial reporting responsibilities. An Audit Committee assists the Board of 
Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit Committee meets with management to review the financial 
reporting process and the unaudited condensed interim financial statements together with other financial 
information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for its 
consideration in approving the unaudited condensed interim financial statements together with other 
financial information of the Company for issuance to the shareholders. 
 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company's affairs in compliance with 
established financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations, and for maintaining proper standards 
of conduct for its activities. 
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Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc.  
(Formerly: Immunall Science Inc.)                                    Statement 1 

Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position 
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 
September 30, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015 
Assets    

Current assets:    
Cash  $       5,955  $ 1,721  
GST receivable  8,658   4,481  
Prepaid expenses  -   2,375  
 14,613      14,495       
    

Non-Current Assets:    
Prepaid Expenses and deposits 5,918          
Property and equipment (note 3) 552,044         2,844      
 557,962    2,844 

 $   572,575  $     17,339 
    
Liabilities and Equity    
Current liabilities:    
    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 4 and 7) 180,763         129,871  
Loan payable (note 5) 172,019         51,805 
Due to related parties 113,630   
 466,412     181,676 
Convertible Debentures(note 5) 416,592   
    

Total Liabilities $   883,004      $   181,676  

Shareholders' Deficiency    
   Share capital (note 6) 747,769   747,769  
   Reserves  422,248   422,248  
   Deficit  (1,480,446)   (1,334,354)  
 (310,429)   (164,337)  
 $   572,575  $ 17,339  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 
 
Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1) 
Commitments (Note 8) 

 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements were approved for issuance by the  
Board of Directors on November 29, 2016 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
/s/ Stephane Maher  /s/ Nils Rehmann   
Director  Director 
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Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc.  
(Formerly: Immunall Science Inc.)                                 Statement 2 
Condensed Interim Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 
 

                                                                   For the three months ended   For the Nine months ended  
 September 

30, 
 September 

30, 
 September 

30, 
 September 

30, 
 2016  2015  2016  2015 

EXPENSES        

Amortization  $    267   $         -      $    801    $        -  
Audit and professional fees 1,000        1,200        24,881       8,350  
Management fees 38,733    38,733   
Consulting 3,784  4,620  26,997  5,620 
Corporate listing and filing fees 2,000          7,500        19,482       10,532  
Interest and bank charges 8,800      1,099   9,730   1,386  
Office  627           408        2,325       408 
Rent (note 8) 8,625  2,350  22,725  2,350 
Storage -  198    198 
Travel -  1,593  418  1,593 
TOTAL LOSS AND 
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
FOR THE PERIOD  $ (63,836) 

 
$  (18,518) 

 
 $ (146,092) 

 
 $ (30,437) 

        
        

Loss per share 
- Basic and diluted  $  (0.06) 

 
 $   (0.02) 

 
 $  (0.14) 

 
 $  (0.03) 

Weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding 1,013,209  1,013,209  1,013,209  1,013,209 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc.  
(Formerly: Immunall Science Inc.)                                                                 Statement 3 
Condensed Interim Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Deficiency 
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

 

Number of 
common 
shares 

 
Share capital 

 
Reserve 

 
Deficit 

 
Total 

          Balance at December 31, 2014    1,013,209 
 

 $        747,769  
 

 $     422,248  
 

 $     (1,250,198) 
 

 $      (80,181) 

          Loss for the period - 
 

- 

 

- 

 
          (30,437) 

 
        (30,437) 

          Balance at September 30, 2015 1,013,209 
 

 $        747,769  
 

 $     422,248  
 

 $     (1,280,635) 
 

 $      (110,618) 

          Loss for the period 
      

(53,719) 
 

(53,719) 

          Balance at December 31, 2015 1,013,209 
 

 $        747,769  
 

 $     422,248  
 

 $     (1,334,354) 
 

 $     (164,337) 

          Loss for the period - 
 

- 

 

- 

 

(146,092) 
 

(146,092) 

          Balance at September 30, 2016 1,013,209 
 

 $        747,769  
 

 $     422,248  
 

 $     (1,480,446)      
 

 $     (310,429)      
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc.  
(Formerly: Immunall Science Inc.)                                     Statement 4 
Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows 
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 

 
 For the Nine months ended  

 
 

 September 30,   September 30, 
 

 
 2016   2015 

Cash provided by (used in): 
 

   

Operating Activities:     

Net loss for the period 
 

$    (146,092) 
 

 $   (30,437) 
Adjustments for items not affecting cash: 

 

   

  Amortization  
 

801 
 

       -  
  (145,291)     (30,437)  
     
Net changes in non-cash working capital items:     
  GST receivables    (4,177)  (1,560) 
  Prepaid expenses  2,375   (1,979) 
  Deposits  -  (5,518) 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  53,089  (4,487) 
  Interest payable  (606)  977 

Cash used in Operating Activities  (94,610)  (43,004) 
     
Investing Activities:     
  Payment for the office renovation  -  (3,200) 

Cash used in Investing Activities  -  (3,200) 
     
Financing Activities:     
  Loans  60,214  47,419 
  Due to Related Parties  38,630   
Cash provided by Financing Activities  98,844  47,419 

  
   

Change in cash  4,234     1,215 
Cash, beginning of the period 

 
1,721 

 
   1,699  

Cash (Overdraft), end of the period 
 

$       5,955 
 

 $       2,914   

  
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements. 
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(Formerly Immunall Science Inc.)  
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 
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1. Nature of Operations and Going Concern 

Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc. (formerly Immunall Science Inc.) (the “Company”) was 
incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on November 22, 2005. The 
Company was a research company engaged in the business of developing and 
commercialising technology related to the growth and extraction of active ingredients from 
American Ginseng.  During 2014, the Company ceased its ginseng operations and is 
currently inactive (note 2(a)).  

The address and principal place of business of the Company is 440-890 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver BC, V6C 1J9.  

The Company is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CNSX”) under the symbol 
“ARV”.  On May 8, 2015, the CNSX suspended the Company’s shares from trading on the 
CNSX as a result of a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission 
(“BCSC”) due to the Company’s failure to file its audited financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2014, as required under Part 4 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous 
Disclosure Obligations (“NI 51-102”), and a Form 51-102F1 Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis (“MDA”) for the year ended December 31, 2014, as required under Part 5 of NI 
51-102, within the mandatory timeline. During the Nine months ended September 30, 2016, 
the Company has complied with the continuous disclosure requirements and the cease trade 
order has been lifted.  

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of 
accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which presumes that the Company will be 
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business in the 
foreseeable future. Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be 
unable to realize the carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as they become due. 
The Company is in the development stage and there is a material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. As of 
September 30, 2016, the Company has earned no recent revenues from operations, had a net 
loss of $146,092 (2015 - $30,437), and has a deficit of $1,480,446 (December 31, 
2015 - $1,334,354). During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company entered into a 
credit agreement with a third party, however the debt was not repaid on the maturity date of 
January 31, 2016. This debt was converted it to the convertible debenture on September 16, 
2016 (Note 5). Accounts payable includes $45,000 owing to previous management that will not 
be repaid until sufficient cash flow is available. Management is currently investigating a range 
of strategic options available with a view to generating income sufficient to pay its liabilities and 
ongoing operating expenses, and maximizing shareholder value. The Company may be 
required to obtain additional debt or equity financing or curtail spending in the future to fund 
operations and settle obligations. 

These statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern 
assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for 
these unaudited interim condensed financial statements, then adjustments, which could be 
material, would be necessary to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported 
expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used. 
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 
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2. Basis of Preparation 

Statement of Compliance 

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). These financial statements comply with the 
International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”). 

Basis of presentation 

This condensed interim financial report does not include all of the information required of a full 
annual financial report and is intended to provide users with an update in relation to events and 
transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and 
performance of the Company since the end of the last annual reporting period. It is therefore 
recommended that this financial report be read in conjunction with the annual financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2015. However, this condensed 
interim financial report provides selected significant disclosures that are required in the annual 
financial statements under IFRS. 

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of 
accounting policies and methods of computation consistent with those applied in the 
Company’s audited annual financial statement for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, 
except for the following: 

New Standards Recently Adopted 
 
The Company has adopted the following new accounting standards and interpretations 
effective January 1, 2016.  These changes were made in accordance with the applicable 
transitional provisions and had no material impact on its Financial Statements. 
 
 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – The amendment clarifies the applicability of the 

amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosure – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
to condensed consolidated interim financial statements.  This amendment is effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
 

 IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting – The amendment clarifies the meaning of disclosure 
of information 'elsewhere in the interim financial report' and requires a cross reference.  
This amendment is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 

 
 IAS 16 and 38 Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets (Amendment) – 

These new standards provide additional guidance on how the depreciation or 
amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets should be calculated.  
These standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 

New Standards Not Yet Effective 
 
The following is an overview of new accounting standards that the Company will be required 
to adopt in future years.  The Company does not expect to adopt any of these standards 
before their effective dates.  The Company continues to evaluate the impact of these 
standards on its financial statements.   
 
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – This standard provides added guidance on the 

classification and measurement of financial liabilities. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

   
 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – The standard covers principles for 

reporting about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning or 
after January 1, 2018.  

 
 IFRS 16 Leases – This standard was issued in January 2016 and specifies how an IFRS 

reporter will recognize, measure, present and disclose leases.  The standard provides a 
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all 
leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value.  
Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to 
lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.  This standard 
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  Patents 

 

3. Property and equipment  
 

 
 

Leasehold 
Improvements NPNs 

Patent Plant 
Equipment Total 

       
Cost       
Balance December 31, 2015  3,200 75,000 - - 3,200 

Additions or disposals  
 

- 75,000 
 

75,000 
 

400,000 550,000 
Balance at September 30, 
2016  

 
3,200 75,000 

 
75,000 

 
400,000 553,200 

       
Accumulated depreciation       
Balance December 31, 2015  356 - - - 356 
Depreciation for the period  801 -- - - 801 
Balance at September 30, 
2016  

 
1,157 - 

 
- 

 
- 1,157 
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3. Property and equipment (continued) 
 

During the nine months period ended September 30, 2016 the Company has purchased four 
coconut oil and whey protein derived products (NPN), The purchase price of $75,000 is to be 
settled by issuance of 1,500,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.05 per share. As of 
September 30, 2016 no shares have been issued.  
 
During the nine months period ended September 30, 2016 the Company has purchased U.S. 
patent number 8,916,211 -Method and Composition for Preventing and Treating Avian Influenza 
in Poultry .The purchase price of $75,000 is to be settled by issuance of 1,500,000 common 
shares at a deemed price of $0.05 per share. As of September 30, 2016 no shares have been 
issued.  
 
During the nine months period ended September 30, 2016 the Company has purchased 
assembled apparatus for extracting oils from natural biomass using fastfreezing extraction 
methods and certain engineering know-how. The purchase price of $400,000 is to be settled by 
issuance of 2,000,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.05 per share and $300,000  
convertible debenture (Note 5). As of September 30, 2016 no shares have been issued.  
 

4. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 
June 30,  

2016  
December 
31, 2015 

    

Trade payables 
 $    

115,265  
$     
 50,377  

Interest payable (note 5) -  
       
2,197 

Other payables and accrued liabilities    180,763  77,297    
 
 $   180,763       

$     
83,684  

 

5.   Loan payable and Convertible Debentures 

On July 8, 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party to advance funds to 
the Company for a maximum amount of $100,000 to cover operating costs. The loan bears 
interest at 10% per annum, compounded monthly. All amounts are repayable on demand on or 
before January 31, 2016. On September 16, 2016 the loan and interest was converted to 
$115,000 Convertible Debenture. 
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5.   Loan payable and Convertible Debentures (continued) 

 
On September 16, 2016 the Company Issued $300,000 convertible debenture for assembled 
apparatus for extracting oils from natural biomass using fastfreezing extraction methods and 
certain engineering know-how. Debenture bears 10% per annum interest and can be converted at 
$0.05 into units of the Company, each unit consisting of one common share of the Company and 
one transferable common share warrant of the Company, the common share warrant having an 
exercise price of $0.05 and an exercise period of two years from the time of issuance. As of 
September 30, 2015 $1,151 in interest have been accrued. 
 
On September 16, 2016 the Company Issued $115,000 convertible debenture for loan 
settlement. Debenture bears 10% per annum interest and convertible at $0.05 into units of AREV, 
each unit consisting of one common share of AREV and one transferable common share warrant 
of AREV, the common share warrant having an exercise price of $0.05 and an exercise period of 
two years from the time of issuance, in full settlement of the Outstanding Advance of the Credit 
Facility, including without limitation, any accrued interest. As of September 30, 2015 $441 in 
interest have been accrued. 

 
6.   Share capital 

(a) Authorized 
  

Unlimited number of common shares 
20,000,000preferred shares, issuable in one or more series 
20,000,000redeemable preferred shares, issuable in one or more series 

 

(b) Issued 

On August 24, 2016, the Company consolidated its common shares on the basis of 33 
pre-consolidation common shares to 1 post-consolidation common share. All the figures 
as to the number of common shares, prices of issued shares, as well as the loss per 
share, in the unaudited condensed interim financial statements are post-consolidation 
amounts and the prior year comparatives have been retroactively restated to present the 
post-consolidation amounts.   

  Number  Stated value 
Common shares issued:    

September  30, 2016 and December 31, 2015  1,013,209   $ 747,769  
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6.   Share capital (continued) 

(c) Stock options 

 The Company has a stock option plan pursuant to which the Board of the Company may 
grant options to purchase common shares to the officers, directors and employees of the 
Company or affiliated companies and to consultants retained by the Company. 

The aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance under the stock option 
plan is set at a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares outstanding at the time the 
options are granted.  Furthermore, the aggregate number of shares issuable to one 
individual may not exceed 5% of the total number of issued and outstanding common 
shares of the Company.  The exercise price of all options issued under the stock option 
plan may not be less than the closing market price on the last business day prior to the 
date the option was granted. 

No options were granted or outstanding during the Nine months ended September 30, 
2016 and the year ended December 31, 2015. 

7. Related party transactions 

(a)  Related Parties 

The Company’s related parties consist of its Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) and Chief 
Financial Officer (“CFO”). The nature of the Company’s relationships with its related 
parties is as follows: 
 

 Nature of Relationship 
Chief Operating Officer Management 
Chief Financial Officer Management 

 

The Company did not incur fees and expenses in the normal course of operations in 
connection with its former COO and CFO during the Nine months ended September 30, 
2016. However, $45,000 in accounts payable (December 31, 2015 - $45,000) remains 
outstanding relating to consulting fees charged by corporations owned by management 
and directors in prior periods. 

 Amounts included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due under normal 
credit terms. 

 As of September 30, 2016 the Company has accrued $35,000 in signing bonuses to 
Directors. Bonuses to be paid solely by the issuance of 700,000 common shares of the 
Company.  As of September 30, 2016 no shares have been issued. The Comany has 
accrued $3,733 (September 30, 2015 -$0 ) management fees for Nine months ended 
September 30, 2016. 



Arev Nutrition Sciences Inc.  
(Formerly Immunall Science Inc.)  
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 
(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 ~ 11 ~ 

8. Commitments  
 
(a) Licensing and Royalty 
 
The Company has a licensing and royalty memorandum of understanding with the initial 
developer of the technology that is being utilized exclusively by the Company for the 
production of products from ginseng roots. As part of the memorandum of understanding, the 
Company is required to pay a royalty of 5% of the invoiced cost of each production run incurred 
by the Company. 
 
(b) Office Lease 

On August 27, 2015, the Company signed the lease agreement with Rocky Mountain Property 
Management Company (“Rocky Mountain”) for the office lease in Vancouver, BC that started 
on September 1, 2015 and ends on August 31, 2018.  The term of the lease is 36 months with 
two-year option for approximately 2,000 rentable square feet as well as the permitted uses of 
the storage.  For the rental period of two years, the Company is required to pay the annual 
basic rent and the water / sewer costs.   
 
The Company is expected to make the following minimum lease payments: 
 

For the year ended 

Minimum Lease 
Payments, excluding 

GST 
   December 31, 2016  33,096 
December 31, 2017   33,096 
December 31, 2018  22,064 
   
Total minimum lease payments $ 99,288 

 
9. Financial instruments and risk management 

Risk management overview 

 The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk and 
liquidity risk. This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of 
the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. The Company employs 
risk management strategies and polices to ensure that any exposure to risk are in 
compliance with the Company’s business objectives and risk tolerance levels. While the 
Board has the overall responsibility for the Company’s risk management framework, the 
Company’s management has the responsibility to administer and monitor these risks. 
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9. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

Fair values of financial instruments 

 The fair value of the Company's cash, deposits and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximate their carrying value due to immediate or short-term maturity of 
these financial instruments.  

 Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statements of financial position are 
classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1 -  reflects valuation based on quoted prices observed in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 - reflects valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of 
similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices 
used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; and 
inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 
market data by correlation or other means. 

Level 3 - reflects valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs. 

A financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a 
significant input has been considered in measuring fair value. The financial instrument in 
the Company's financial statements measured at Level 1 fair value is cash. 

Financial instrument risk exposure 

 The Company’s financial instruments expose the Company to certain financial risks, 
including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price 
risk. 

     Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails to 
discharge its obligations. 

Credit risk exists in cash, which is mitigated by the Company holding its cash in major 
Canadian banking financial institutions and deposits which is held by the property 
manager of the leased premises. 
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9. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

     Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities as they become due. The financial liabilities on the 
statements of financial position consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, which 
includes $45,000 due to related parties (note 7) that is not expected to be repaid in the 
next year. The Company obtained additional financing in the current year through a third 
party credit facility to manage liquidity risk (note 5). The Company entered into a lease 
agreement for an office that requires monthly payments (note 8(b)) Management closely 
monitors cash flow requirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet 
operational and financial obligations as they become due.  

Capital risk management 

The Company's objectives in managing its capital is to safeguard the Company's assets 
to be able to continue as a going concern, and to sustain future development of the 
business. 

Management defines capital as the Company's shareholders' deficiency. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to economic market 
conditions. Management monitors the Company's ongoing capital requirements against 
unrestricted net working capital and assesses expected capital requirements for the 
fiscal period. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust 
spending, issue new shares, sell assets or incur debt. 

There have been no changes to the Company's capital management policy during the 
Nine months ended September 30, 2016, and year ended December 31, 2015, and the 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements at September 30, 
2016 and December 31, 2015. 

10. Subsequent events 

Subsequent to the September 30, 2016, The Company has completed a private 

placement with gross proceeds of $260,000. 
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